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View over the former McMahon family farm in Trohanny
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So dorn dona dubhfuillibh

‘Here is the fist of the dark-blooded’

This is an enhanced version of the MacMahon coat of arms.
Ours appears to have been designed with the Normans in mind. Each element in the
design symbolises a particular quality or trait of the family portrayed.

The Ostrich — Willing obedience and serenity
Horseshoe — Good luck and a safeguard against evil spirits
Arm Embowed — A person with qualities of leadership
Sword — Justice and military honour

Fleur-de-lis — Purity, light
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Introduction

Work began on this project in 1976 when Eugene, one of the authors of this book,
made a thorough collection of oral material from the then elderly family members as
well as an examination of relevant parish records (Reference 1). In 2005, the second
author Patrick McMahon, joined the endeavour, concentrating on trying to find more
family records, initially using the internet.

Despite the paucity of documentary evidence, the one self-evident truth is that we,
the McMahons of Trohanny, are descended from a long line of survivors probably
going right back to the early inhabitants of this Island (possibly even as far back as
7000 years — maybe even to the Fir Bolg!). Unfortunately, our research has not
produced sufficient evidence to prove our irrefutable descent from kings or even
minor nobility, a commonly held belief among ancestor hunters, although we do
suggest a plausible linkage.

In his recent book on Y-chromosome (maleness) inheritance, Professor Sykes
claims (Ref. 2) that this may not be as far fetched as one might think; around 1000 AD
there were something like 450 kings of one sort or another in Ireland and therefore
many people living in Ireland to-day could be descended from at least one of them
(a sort of Ghengis Khan effect). The assumption is that the progeny of kings would
have had a better chance of survival than ordinary folk and hence have had a better
chance to produce progeny of their own and so on. Interestingly, his studies also show
that, with the exception of a few places like Orkney, Shetland and East Anglia there
was very little impact on the distribution of Y-chromosomes from the various invasions
of Britain and Ireland. In fact both countries shared many of the same Y-chromo-
somes, which he attributed to common pre-Celtic or Pictish populations. In fact one
particular Y-chromosome (which he termed ‘Oisin’) is very common in England, Wales
and especially Scotland and Ireland. 92% of those sampled in North-Western Ireland
had the Oisin Y-chromosome as did 81% of the sample from the Western Isles of
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Scotland (Dal Riada); this he attributed to the activities of Nial of the Nine Hostages
(who, apparently was a bit of a Ghengis Khan himself). So, if we had any royal
trappings, they disappeared a long time ago; alternatively, even if we were
descended from a passing Gallowglass, then this is unlikely to be discernible even
with the most up to date DNA analysis.

The work includes the material first reported (Ref. 1), but in many instances this
later effort is much wider ranging. More data and oral history were collected and
subjected to more rigorous scrutiny, resulting in clarification to some of the earlier
conundrums. The essential weakness of much of the basic source material necessitated
a great deal of interpretation to fill in the many gaps in the narrative.

We have also attempted to set our family’s story within the correct historical
context. In attempting to trace our lineage back as far as possible, we have had to
make some extrapolations which some might think were fanciful. We have, however,
only reported those which we considered plausible.

Aims

The aim of this document was to bring together all the available information we have
and try to deduce, given the limitations of some of the data, the direct line of descent
for the Trohanny branch of the McMahon family. In attempting a brief history of our
family, we have therefore focussed on the passing down of the family name of
MacMahon or McMahon from generation to generation. No slight is intended to female
members of the family, and hopefully no offense will be taken to what must
necessarily be a survey of the patrilineal line of descent.

A secondary aim was to document as many branches of the family for which we
had information, and establish their relationship to the Trohanny line of descent.

A third aim was to try and bridge the gap from the 18th century back into the 17th
century and beyond.




2.1

Methods, Sources, Limitations

It soon became apparent that trawling the Internet for information specific to our
family was to a large extent a waste of time and money. There was just not enough
known about the family members in order to carry out meaningful searches, e.g. a
second or unusual Christian name, place of birth etc. Many Internet databases (apart
from being copied from a common source) only gave lIreland, or occasionally a
county, as place of birth, which was of little use. For our purposes, it would have been
necessary for the townland or the parish to have been included with each entry.
However, the biggest and almost insurmountable obstacle to the analysis was the
complete absence of written records (births, deaths and marriages) for much of the
period under review (Annex Al). These missing periods corresponded in many
instances with when key ancestors would have lived. We have had to deduce from the
available oral evidence and using the laws of probability, who these more distant
ancestors might have been.

Methods

The main methods used were:
[] To obtain and analyse the entire ‘McMahon’ database for the County of Meath;

[] To augment and re-analyse the oral history;
[1 To research whatever records were available on microfilm and from the Internet.
0

To research the earlier history of the MacMahon clan in Monaghan, using relevant
history books, supplemented by internet sources.

Data from the print-out of the ‘McMahon’ database was entered onto an Excel spread-
sheet thus forming a working database where data could be sorted and sifted
(Appendix 1 to Annex A, page 69). For completeness, this database was augmented
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with data from sources other than the Meath Heritage Centre and also deductions
derived from the probability model. This database was used to sort the entries into
family groups, generations, geographical location etc. From this information and the
oral history, family trees were plotted, also in Excel. These varied throughout the study
and were continually updated as new information became available.

As expected, much of the data was conflicting; there could be several candidates
having the same Christian name in the same or neighbouring townlands for one
family position. In order to assist in the analysis of such conflicts, a small probability
model was constructed (Annex Bl, page 76). This was an ‘Age Fit' model which
placed age constraints on potential fathers and mothers. Working backwards from
known dates of birth, limits for dates of birth were deduced by the model for Fathers,
Grandfathers and Great Grandfathers. Potential candidates had to fit these limits in
order to qualify.

A further technique used was a simple form of cluster analysis (Annex B2). This
was used to try and establish migratory routes and settled communities.

A final tranche of oral history was collected from the oldest G8 family member
(Annex J). This was integrated with the existing knowledge, confirming some existing
information and introducing some new angles.

Sources

The main source of raw data was the analysis and data base supplied by the Meath
Heritage Centre (Ref. 3). This was augmented by information from the Mormon library
archives in Salt Lake City (Ref. 12). Added to this were elements of oral history from
senior family members (our uncles Jim & Paddy, the Rathbane McMahons, the Yores,
etc.) and scraps of documentary evidence originally saved by our paternal
Grandmother, Margaret Farrelly. This was an attempt to build upon the case prepared
in 1994 (Ref. 1).

In attempting to trace the earlier Monaghan origins of the family, we had to rely
on whatever sources we could find on the internet (Ref. 9), Peadar Livingstone’s The
Monaghan Story (Ref. 6) and G.A. Hayes-McCoy’s Irish Battles — A Military History of
Ireland (Ref. 15).

Limitations
The main limitation in this analysis was the absence of documentary data and the

rather limited oral history. Very little data from outside North Meath was examined
since there were very few verifiable indications of direct descent from outside this
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area. Exceptions to this were the Hearth Money Rolls for Co. Monaghan (1663 and
1665, Ref. 4), a compilation of Irish Flax Growers in Co. Monaghan (and also for
Meath, Louth and Cavan), dated 1796 (Ref. 5), the genealogical tree of the Dartrey
MacMahons, as well as summaries of both the Dartrey Papers and the Shirley Papers.
Of course, it is possible that more snippets could be gleaned were we to apply the
same degree of intense research to Monaghan as we have done to North Meath. That
being said, any research in Monaghan prior to 1800 would be similarly handicapped
by the scarcity of parish records.

Nomenclature

Throughout the report we have tried to minimise the use of terms such as Great Great
Grandfather etc. Instead we have introduced generation labelling, G1 to G13 (Annex
A2), which is used throughout most of the report. Where we have had to use terms
such as ‘Great Grandfather’, readers from generation 12 and later will have to add an
extra ‘Great’ for each generation after G11.
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Lough Muckno, Castleblaney —
alleged site of a McMahon stronghold.




3.1

History of the McMahons of Monaghan (Oriel)

The family name can be traced back to a warrior named Mathghamhna (Mahon),
who died in battle in 1022 A.D. From that time onwards, his descendents adopted the
surname Mac Mathghamhna (MacMahon). At that time, the family had but local
importance in the Lough Leck area of West Monaghan, while their distant kinsfolk, the
O’Carrolls, held sway over most of Monaghan and Louth.

12th century

With the arrival of the Normans in the late 12th century, all of that changed. The
O'Carrolls were soon defeated in battle by aggressive Norman barons pushing north-
wards into Louth. The defeat of the O’Carrolls created something of a political
vacuum in Monaghan, and the MacMahons wasted no time in establishing themselves
as the newly dominant clan in the region.

For the Monaghan MacMahons, it can be assumed that all of those bearing the
name MacMahon, McMahon, M’Mahon or even plain old Mahon are descended from
the original Mahon of the early 11th centuryf At a time when multiple wives and very
large families were common among the richer nobles, many parallel lines of
descendents would have been in the natural order of things. Most of these would have
retained the common surname of MacMahon. Over the generations, yet others of
Mahon’s descendents would have discarded the common surname of MacMahon in
favour of surnames denoting more recent patrilineal descent, e.g. MacArdle, McGeogh,
McHugh, Hughes, McPhillips, McKeown, etc. As a result, many Monaghan families
with quite different surnames share an element of common ancestry dating back to
our original forebear (Figure 1).

The Trohanny McMahons are almost definitely descended from one of these

' The Clare MacMahons are a totally distinct clan that traces its descent from a brother of Brian Boru in the early 11th

century.
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Monaghan branches, given both our family’s early 19th century record of settlement
in North Meath (close to the southern boundary of County Monaghan), and the
family lore about our McMahon relatives in the Carrickmacross area (Annex J4).
However, owing to a lack of specific documentary records, we cannot identify with
any certainty the precise line of descent prior to the 19th century. We are therefore
compelled to rely on whatever reasonable conjecture and supposition the historical
facts afford us (Annex P).

History does not oblige us by leaving much record of the common people of
earlier times, but we can at least follow the broad outlines of the family story down
through the earlier centuries. This is best done through a study of the political and
economic fortunes of the clan leadership. Much of that history revolved around cattle
raids and inter-family rivalry over the Chieftainship. In pursuit of these self-serving
endeavours, various MacMahon nobles often allied themselves with whomsoever
appeared to hold the most power at the local level, be it the O’'Neills of Tyrone or the
Normans/English in Louth and Meath.

Eochaidh MacMahon

It is generally accepted that the family dynasty truly began with the reign of Eochaidh
MacMahon (1250-1273). Throughout the 14th century, the Chieftainship alternated
between the descendents of Eochaidh’s three sons. The decision in each case as to
which branch attained the Chieftaincy was generally reached by force of arms. By the
early 15th century, under the leadership of Ardghal MacMahon (1406-1427), one of
these three branches prevailed and became the dominant one.

Ardhal had ten sons, but only one of them, Ruadri (d.1446), assumed the clan
leadership, while his nine brothers would presumably have given rise to further
parallel branches of the MacMahon family. Ruadri, in turn, had sixteen sons! Thirteen
of these sons presumably went on to sire unrecorded lines of descent. However, the
historical record is more concerned with the remaining three sons, Aodh Rua, Eoghan
and Redmond, whose descendents disputed the leadership over the following 150
years. These we refer to as the Farney (South Monaghan), the Dartrey (West
Monaghan) and the Lucht-tighe (Central Monaghan) branches of the MacMahon clan.

The ongoing tussle over the leadership was generally accompanied by internecine
warfare. A system of primogeniture would likely have produced a more stable
society but, under Brehon law, a form of low-key sporadic anarchy prevailed. When
a chieftain died, all male MacMahons sharing a common patrilineal ancestry with the
deceased (going back anywhere up to four generations) were technically eligible to
advance a legitimate claim to the chieftaincy. This proved to be a recipe for ongoing
social and political unrest, compounded in no small degree by the competing
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Figure 1: Monaghan Families
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MacMahon brothers or cousins seeking military assistance from outside the county.

What we, with the benefit of historical eyesight, can see so plainly was not so
obvious to them. Too late they realised that their best defence against an English
conquest and a defeat of their whole way of life lay in maintaining a united front
against the English interest. By the time that this became more plainly apparent in the
late 16th century, it was already too late. The English conquest had by then assumed
a virtually unstoppable momentum.

Some of the more pragmatic MacMahons (especially in Farney) attempted to
maintain their status by adopting the English language and customs. Whatever their
chances were in this regard before Kinsale, the loss of that battle by the Gaelic lords
of Ulster sounded the death knell for both their economic prospects and their way of
life. After 1601 the English had little use for Gaelic allies.

Six years earlier, the last official investiture of a MacMahon chieftain, Brian
MacHugh Og MacMahon of Dartrey, had taken place at the coronation stone above
Lough Leck (in West Monaghan). Of course, much of the prestige associated with this
title dissipated in the years following the Battle of Kinsale in 1601. Despite this, Brian
MacHugh Og MacMahon (Sir Brian na mBarrog) chose not to join his father-in-law,
Hugh O’Neill, and the other Ulster nobles in their exodus to the continent in 1607.
Instead, he decided to remain on his estate in Dartrey, where he died in 1622."

Indeed, in the years immediately following Kinsale, the various MacMahon nobles
initially managed to hang onto much of their land, albeit with burdensome obligations
under the newly imposed English system of land tenure. However, they were for the
most part unable to successfully adapt to the English landholding system of titles, rents
and mortgages. Being unused to the cash economy and English legal system that were
introduced into Monaghan in the early 17th century, they were soon obliged to sell
off much of their lands in order to meet their cash obligations under the new system
of rents and taxes.

In a final spasm of rebellion in 1641, a valiant attempt was made to turn the clock
back. However, following the eventual defeat of that rebellion in 1650 and the
subsequent Cromwellian settlement, nearly all of the MacMahon lands were
confiscated and ownership bestowed instead on demobilized soldiers and British
speculators. Most of the MacMahons stayed on the land, however, but in sadly reduced
circumstances. There were insufficient numbers of British settlers to work the land,
and so the native Irish were retained as tenant farmers, landless labourers, tradesmen,
etc.

A fairly decent historical record exists of the conditions that prevailed in County
Monaghan (and indeed in the rest of Ireland) during the subsequent 150 years. This
allows us to paint a tentative picture of the social, economic and political context

% The reader may reference his specific family tree, the Dartrey MacMahons, in Annex P.
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within which our MacMahon ancestors must have lived prior to their migration into
North Meath ¢.1800. This period saw the introduction of a foreign system of laws and
socio-economic obligations, together with the gradual displacement of the Gaelic
language and native customs. For the first generation or two, this change proceeded
quite slowly, largely because (unlike elsewhere in Ulster) Monaghan was not planted
by a large number of British settlers.

This period also saw the turmoil associated with the Williamite wars of 1689-91,
culminating in the final defeat of the Jacobite forces at the Boyne, Aughrim and
Limerick. This probably did not impact directly on the lives of many in Monaghan, but
it did ensure that the old order would never return. Indeed, what followed was a grim
century for the Catholic peasantry all over Ireland, including Monaghan. Not only had
all hopes of recovering land titles evaporated, but the 18th century also saw the
imposition of harsh Penal Laws against Catholics.

By the start of the 18th century, a functioning system of tenant farming under
English law was well established in County Monaghan. Within such a system, our
ancestors’ welfare would have been largely at the whim of their particular landlord(s)
and they would have had few rights with respect to the retention of farm leases. This
would have resulted in a considerable degree of social and economic instability, so
that it would not have been unusual for members of each succeeding generation to
migrate into neighbouring parishes in search of suitable tenancies. This could
certainly explain why, sometime before 1813, our first readily identifiable ancestor
(G5 Roger McMahon) moved onto Moate Farm (near Robertstown in North Meath).

The reader is referred to Annex P for a much more complete and detailed
summary of the clan history prior to 1800 A.D.

n
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i,
Celtic Cross at the entrance

to Robertstown Cemetery




4.1

4.2

Family Migration

The Lower Barony of Kells

The later history indicates that this is where our most recent ancestors finished up, in
particular, in the parishes of Kilbeg and Moynalty in North Meath.

The Civil Survey of 1654 (Ref. 14) indicates that most townlands of Moynalty
(including Moyo) were owned by members of the Betagh family.3 The later Down
Survey (1659) showed the redistribution of villages (as the townlands were called) in
which Moyo passed from Edward to Henry Betagh. Interestingly, the name Moyo
was used in the mid 17th century and obviously predates the name Trohanny for the
townland. About this time too (1653), Thomas Taylor arrived in Ireland, presumably
to take advantage of the opportunity to acquire land cheaply from those Cromwellian
officers who did not wish to remain in Ireland. It wasn't until 1736, however, that the
Taylor (Taylour) family acquired Headfort, and even then, the family had to wait
until 1800 before acquiring the title Marquis of Headfort and Baron Kenils (Kells).
This is of some interest to us in as much as that Headfort was the dominant landlord
for much of North Meath, including the ancestral Moate Farm.

From Monaghan

Our family most likely originated in Monaghan. There is some supportive evidence
in the oral recollection of ‘Newtown McMahons’, near Carrickmacross, who were
related to us in some manner (Annex J.4 page 118). The village of Nobber in North
Meath is only about 15 miles by road south of Carrickmacross in South Monaghan.
A possible migratory path may have taken the family southwards from the

3 There is some speculation that this may have been a generic name for the native Irish, meaning ‘food growers’(derived
from ‘bia’)
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Figure 2: Migratory Route from Monaghan to North Meath

Carrickmacross area through Drumconrath and Nobber parishes to Kilbeg parish,
where we find the Robertstown graveyard and Moate Farm (both the graveyard and
the farm have strong and verifiable family associations).

Carrickmacross is marked by a star in Figure 2. The direct route southwards from
there would pass through Meath Hill to the small town of Nobber. The indications
are that, following its move southwards from the Carrickmacross area circa 1798 -
1808," our family settled to the west of Nobber and to the north of Carlanstown. The
Tithe Records of 1828 list a William McMahon as a farmer of substance in Moate.

In any event, this migration would have been dictated by economic necessity, i.e.
the availability of farm leases, which were in the control of landlords such as Jack
Farrell or Anthony Strong Hussey (who had acquired the Barnwall lands in
Kilmainhamwood by 1837), or the Marquis of Headfort (who owned the Barony of
Kells) in the Kilbeg area.’

4 Estimated date derived from the expiry dates of many tenancies near Carrickmacross (Annex Q.4)

5 Radcliffe may have purchased land from the Headfort Estate in the mid-19thc, as he is the landlord of record for the
Maio Farm, at least from 1854.
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Figure 3: Robertstown Graveyard is about 30oom north of the Fortified House

The final stage in this migratory path occurred when key family members moved
from Moate to Trohanny and North Leitrim (and from there to Rathbane) in the mid-
1830’s. Corroborated oral recollections have it that our Great-Grandfather William
(G8) and his half-brother, Big Peter, were relocated by Jack Farrell from Moate Farm
in the 19th century (Annex H6). However, Fr. Paddy disputed this and claimed that
our Great-Grandfather William (G8) was taken onto the Maio Farm by his uncle John;
the Maio Farm was leased from George Radcliffe, Landlord of the Maio Estate (Ref. 13).
Radcliffe may have purchased land from the Headfort Estate in the mid-19th century,
as he is the landlord of record for the Maio Farm, at least from 1854.

From Other Areas

In the absence of verifiable hard data from before the 19th century, other migration
theories cannot be completely dismissed. It is always possible that the original
migrants could have come from any part of Ireland. What we do know is that various
McMahon families formed fairly dense population clusters in the Moynalty/Nobber
areas in the 18th and 19th centuries, but they were not necessarily all interrelated.
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4.4

There was strong family insistence that some other McMahons living in the locality
were unrelated despite their close proximity, suggesting that several distinct branches
of the McMahon family had been settled in the area.”

It should also be born in mind that population densities waxed and waned for a
variety of reasons. Much of this may have resulted from administrative social
engineering carried out by landlords.

An equally valid assumption could be that a McMahon family migrated via
Fermanagh/Westmeath and settled in Kilskyre, where we found documentary evidence
of McMahons in the very early 18th century. (Chapter 4.7)

There is also documented evidence of a mixed Clare/Monaghan McMahon branch
in Moynalty, Trohanny and Kilmainhamwood, although these were not related (Ref. 11).

Robertstown Roger

The parish of Kilbeg, containing both the Robertstown graveyard and Moate Farm, is
an obvious place from which we can attempt to trace our family back through time
into County Monaghan.

A couple of miles east of Moate Farm is Robertstown cemetery situated at grid
reference N786 845, about 300m north of Robertstown Cross Roads (Figure 3 and
Annex C2). This has been consistently used by our family for burials over a number
of generations.” It is a large family plot by any standard (at least a dozen side by side
graves inside the chapel ruins). Beside the family plots is the slab tombstone of
Alexender Barnewel (Barnewall), who died in 1596. On this slab is chiselled the
following inscription:

Ys Monument Renewed by Rogr. McMahon for his posterity, 1813

This is not readable today (Figure C5) but was recorded about 50 years ago by local
historian, Jack Fitzsimons (page 82 of The Parish of Kilbeg (Ref. 21)). Fitzsimons went
on to state that Roger was a ‘strong’ farmer but mistakenly thought (and later
corrected) that McMahons no longer used this burial ground.8

It is probable that recollection of relationship, in the absence of any written evidence, would not stretch back further

than about 3 generations.

Roger circa 1815, William 1900, and the families of his sons Peter (1939) and Patrick (1952).

The absence of marked headstones at that time probably led to this mistaken view.
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It is believed that this Roger was a G5 member of our family. He could have been
the first McMahon migrant into the area or a descendent of the first migrant. This
inscription would suggest a reassertion of rights over the burial place and possibly
the surrounding land of which earlier generations of MacMahons had been
dispossessed. The Cromwellian settlement had been imposed a mere four generations
previously, while the Williamite land seizures had presumably occurred in the lifetimes
of G5 Roger’s own grandparents. In a society where land ownership meant everything,
it is surely not stretching the bounds of imagination to suggest an inter-generational
sense of grievance over dispossession of both land and social status. Alternatively and
much less interestingly, Roger may have simply been an assertive type who just
comandeered what would have been by then a derelict chapel and graveyard, given
that he was presumably farming in nearby Moate and possibly Robertstown as well.

If the inscription was carved at the time of his death, this would make him around
77-78 years old then. If so, this would make him a likely candidate for being the
father of G6 William (the Tithe payer in 1828) and our ancestor. Alternatively, he
could have been a brother of William and been about 45 years old when he died or
commisioned the inscription.

Possible Monaghan Lineage

One promising line of research was to try and trace the then unusual family names of
Roger and William back through the centuries. There is only one other instance of the
Roger name appearing in the birth/marriage/death records for Meath, and that
was for a Roger born in 1843° (Appendix 1 to Annex A. page 77), which would be
irrelevant for our purposes. In a similar fashion, there were only six instances of
William in the records for Meath, five of whom were born in the 19th century.
Looking back into the 18th century, the lists of flax growers for Meath, Louth,
Cavan and Monaghan in 1796 were examined (Annex K1). There were only three
Roger McMahons, and all three were in Co. Monaghan (in the parishes of Kilmore,
Donaghmoyne and Magheracloone) (Fig 4). Any one of these three could conceivably
qualify as our ancestor. However, Magheracloone Roger was located closest to
Meath and is therefore the most likely of the three to be the same Roger found
chiselling away in Robertstown 17 years later. If so, we can postulate that he could

9 Born to John and Mary McMahon of Moynalty. He was likely related to us: his father, John, could well have been a

brother to G 7 James, If so, Roger would have been a first cousin of G 8 William (born 1819). Alternatively (but less likely),
he could have been a nephew of William’s. Undoubtedly, this particular Roger was the pugilist who figured in family
oral history.
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Figure 4: Civil Parishes of Monaghan

have been born circa 1735, been a flax farmer in Maheracloone at age 61, and moved
with his son William and family to Moate (in North Meath) in the early 19th century.

Such a move would not have been all that surprising, following a period of
considerable social unrest during the 1790's. The Defenders, for instance, were very
active on the Shirley Estate” near Carrickmacross in the early 1790's, where the
Roger McMahons may have been tenants.” By the later 1790’s, the political temperature
rose all along the eastern counties, including Monaghan, where there was some
organisational activity by the United Irishmen (Annex Q2). At the same time, the
financial situation for Shirley’s tenants was difficult, given the uncertainty surrounding
renewal of tenancies (Annexes Q3 and Q4). It is probably safe to assume that Roger’s
move out of the area was largely owing to the difficulty in hanging on to a profitable
tenancy.”

' Farney was evenly divided in the 17 th century Between the Shirley Estate and the Bath estate, the owners of which

shared a common ancestry in the Devereux family.

The Shirley Estate was very extensive and originally covered 29, 468 Irish acres, i.e. 47,734 English acres.

21year leases were common on the Shirley Estate in 1777. Perhaps Roger’s lease expired as early as 1798, causing him to
migrate southwards into North Meath in search of a fresh tenancy.
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In any event, we know for a certainty that Roger was well established in the Moate
area of North Meath by 1813. By that time, his son William (G6) would have been
running the family farm at Moate, presumably with the help of his sons James, Peter,
John? and Thomas? This is somewhat conjectural, but it does meet the test in the
following ways:

o It incorporates the Robertstown/Moate connection

o It provides an explanation for a family connection with the ‘Newtown McMahons’
of Carrickmacross in the Barony of Farney, South Monaghan.

o It solves the puzzle of how 1813 Roger fits into our family tree.

In attempting to trace the line further back than that, we encounter a sparsity of
written records. If we again focus the search on finding the highly unusual name of
‘Roger McMahon,” we get two interesting leads among the Dartrey McMahons.

The Hearth Money Rolls for 1663 and 1665 list the taxpayers of Co. Monaghan, i.e.
those landholders owning houses with chimneys (Annex K2). Among them we find
a Roger McMahon of the Barony of Dartry in thel665 list. The name actually appears
twice, indicating ownership of a house in the townland of Killynenagh and another in
the neighbouring townland of Kilnanaw (both in the ecclesiastical parish of Currin/
civil parish of Clones, and almost on the Cavan border). This may indicate the same
person owning two houses, or more likely, father and son or two cousins with the
same name in adjacent townlands.

Ten years earlier, around 1655, a Patrick MacMahon of Dartrey was born. He later
married into another MacMahon family from the neighbouring area of Corravilla in
North Cavan. They had four sons: Culagh (circa 1678), Bernard 1680-1747, Ross 1698-
1745, and Roger (circa 1690), all born in Enagh in the Barony of Dartrey.

The genealogical table in Figure P 8, (page 158) refers to this Roger MacMahon
(son of Patrick MacMahon and a mother who was a Corravilla MacMahon), who was
descended from Eoghan MacMahon of Dartry, and was likely born circa 1690 in
Enagh, Co. Monaghan. In his later years, Roger was recorded as having erected a
monument to his two late brothers on the Dawson Estate in Monaghan in 1750 (in
Edragoole (Ematriss);]3 these brothers had both been, successively, Bishops of Clogher
and (later) Armagh. Interestingly, his oldest brother, Culagh, was recorded as having
‘conformed,’ presumably to hold onto the family estate. That particular brother’s line
(including his son Hugh) is thought to have eventually ended up in Dundalk (only 15
miles by road east of Carrickmacross) in the 19th century.

3 In the Barony of Dartrey, south-east of Clones
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Was this then a family in transition from
landed gentry to something less? Could this
1690 Roger have gone on to father an as yet
undiscovered William, who, in turn, fathered
G5 Roger (the Chiseller) circa 1745? Or did
Hugh father this later Roger, and name him
after his own uncle, Roger of Enagh?
Alternatively, 1690 Roger himself could have
musragy|| actually fathered G5 Roger circa 1735. If so,
the socio-economic decline was precipitous.
Admittedly, such speculation only borders on
the possible, but in the absence of verifiable
h’*n records, we can only surmise.

Of course, using the unusual name of Roger
MacMahon provides but a flimsy basis for
determining our line of descent, and relies
heavily on the notion that the name would be
passed down the line at least every second generation.m Although this is stretching the
facts to match the theory, it does fall within the realm of possibilities. Were it to be
true, this would indeed allow us to claim a direct line of descent (and a royal one to
boot) back to 1250 (Annex P7). It could also go some way to explain G5 Roger’s
apparent sense of grievance and entitlement, even as late as 1813.

The geographical distance from a purported place of origin near Clones in the
Barony of Dartrey to Magheracloone in the Carrickmacross area in the Barony of
Farney is only about 30 miles. A southward migration of that distance over one or two
generations is not at all farfetched, and may well have been necessitated by the search
for a suitable farm tenancy, especially in the case of a younger son.

Unfortunately, it is difficult to marry the two theories of descent, as the Tax Roll
Roger of Dartrey (born 1615-25?) was likely to have been a couple of generations
earlier than the 1690? Roger of Enagh in Dartrey, and was not his grandfather, although
they were possibly related.

Nevertheless, absent evidence to the contrary, one or both of these Rogers may
well offer tantalizing clues to a possible line of descent.”

' Ellk LG

Figure 5: Baronies of Monaghan

4 |f the name was interchangeable with Ruadhri, then the theory falls apart, as there were quite a few more of that
name among the 17 th century MacMahons.

> This is presuming that the name ‘Roger’ was not merely an Anglicization of ‘Rory ,” of whom there were 8 in the Hearth
Money Rolls
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County Offaly  County Kildare County Dublin

Figure 6: Catholic Parishes in Co. Meath (Number of births from Table B1 are shown penciled in)

Possible Earliest Ancestors in Meath

All our relations (dead and alive) that were found in Meath can be traced back to G7
James (son of G6 William and possible grandson of G5 Roger). If a surviving branch
had split off in the previous generation and remained in the locality, it would be
expected that a similar number of McMahons (and married relatives) who were not
traceable back to G5 James would have been found by EM during his survey (Ref. 1).
No such other McMahons were found but no doubt other branches did exist over time
(such as the Kilskyre and Nobber McMahons) but had moved away, or died out
and left no trace.”

The results from cluster analysis (Annex B2) indicated three significant population
clusters over the recorded period . These were:

1 Moynalty/Nobber

2 Kells/Athboy

3 Drumconrath.

' Think what would have happened to our branch if our Father had failed to marry!
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By far and away the biggest concentration of McMahons in Meath, at 44%, was
found in the Moynalty/Nobber cluster, with possible migration through Kilbeg/
Castletown-Kilpatrick. There were 191 records for Moynalty (1830-1900), 30 for
Nobber (1764-1899), 6 for Kilbeg (1819-1868) and 2 for Castletown-Kilpatrick
(1830-1831); these last two parishes had lost all their McMahons by 1900 (Table B1).
Virtually all of our known and proposed ancestors were found in the Moynalty/Nobber
cluster. A more detailed examination of the Moynalty/Nobber data (Annex B2), where
the family groupings in each generation were tabulated, is shown in Table B2. All that
can be deduced from this is that the bulk of the recorded families were in Moynalty
Parish in generations 8 and 9. The surrounding parishes had very few McMahon
families, all of which had become extinct by 1900 except for two families, related to
each other, in Nobber.

There was no evidence to connect any of our ancestors with either of the other two
significant clusters (Drumconrath and Kells/Athboy). An early (as yet undiscovered)
ancestor could have migrated from outside Meath or from one of these other clusters
into the Moynalty/Nobber cluster. Interestingly, the earliest records to have survived
indicate a significant number of McMahon births in the parishs of Athboy, Clonmellon,
Kilmessan, Navan and Oldcastle for this period (1742-1808). This, in addition to the
major clusters that were found (Table B1), indicate the widespread distribution of
McMahons in Meath by the mid 18th century and support the idea of multiple family
migrations fom the Monaghan area in the early to mid 18th century.

The McMahons were heavily involved with Hugh O’Neill in the late 16th century
and, a generation later, were up to their necks in the 1640’s Rebellion. As a result, it
is probable that they were dispossessed of their lands following both the Cromwellian
settlement of the 1650's and the Williamite upheavals of the 1690’s, thus necessitating
migration away from the clan territory of Monaghan. It would appear from the
available evidence (Figure 6) that migrations probably took place in a Southerly
direction across a broad front with independent branches’ of the family settling in
different parishes, presumably dependent on the availability of land tenancies. Some
of these flourished over the generations and helped build up the concentrations in
such areas as Moynalty, Kells, Athboy, Drumconrath and Navan while others, which
were probably single families to start with, flourished for a few generations and then
died away.

7" Many could have been related but after dispersal in Meath and the passage of time, knowledge of relationships would
have faded.
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Kilskyre McMahons

Another documented branch of a McMahon family which could qualify as our possible
earliest ancestor in Meath was John McMahon of Kilskyre]8 (southwest of Carnaross/
Kells, (Figure 6). The record of his marriage to Mary Reilly in 1704 and a record of the
confirmation in 1709 of two boys, Thomas and Peter, were both retrieved from
microfilm of Kilbeg Parish records (Ref. 12). If we accept that very young children
could have been accepted for confirmation during the unsettled and turbulent early
period of the Penal Laws,” these two boys were probably the children of John and
Mary. These are plotted in Figure D2 as a tentative G3 and G4 family tree together
with estimated dates of birth. John could easily qualify as a potential G3 Williamite
ancestor (Ch 4.9.3).

It is tempting to speculate that this earliest McMahon marriage record would fit the
bill for our G3 ancestor (born circa 1680). Kilskyre, although the other side of Kells,
is not so far from Kilbeg that one of his sons couldn’t have moved from there to the
Moate farm. There are Confirmation records for his presumed sons, Thomas and Peter
(G4).

There are also much later records for Kilskyre McMahons (G6-G8), among whom
are found two of the five Williams in the database (William could of course have
become a popular name by this stage).” Continuing with the speculation, usage of the
name could indicate a common Williamite ancestor; and this could well have been G3
John of Kilskyre.”

Of course, this may have been a totally separate branch of McMahons in Kilskyre
that persisted through to generation 8 (with a gap in the records for generation 5).
Three families were present in Kilskyre in generaton 6 (Figure D2):

There is some confusion over which parish John hailed from. The record was found under Kilbeg Parish but as this is a
marriage record, Kilskyre could well be his spouse’s parish

9 Alternatively, these could be protestant records.

2% It is notable that the name “William” does not appear anywhere in the MacMahon lineage (Annex P7)

' |f a McMahon ancestor had supported the Williamite cause, there was very little to show for it.
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4.8

4.9

1 Hugh McMahon/Judith Reilly, and their children, Owen (1798), Thomas (1800),
Peter (1801). Indeed, if Hugh died at a relatively young age, then his widow may
well have been the Judith” McMahon who married a Patrick Drake in 1811 (there
is oral history concerning a Drake/McMahon connection in our family). One of the
witnesses at that marriage was Thomas McMahon (Possibly the Thomas at number 3
below).

2 John MacMahon/Bridget Gilshenan, and their children Hugh (1809), Patrick (1815)
and William (1821).

3 Thomas MacMahon/Bridget Boylan, and their children Anne (1809) and John
(1818).

All three of these early 19th century Kilskyre familes were contemporaneous with our
direct ancestors, James McMahon/Anne Cahill of the neighbouring Kilbeg parish. It is
possible that James was a brother or cousin of the three McMahons above, and also
descended from the John McMahon/Mary Reilly of a century earlier. However, it is
more likely that James came from a totally separate and unrelated branch, centred on
Moate Farm. Interestingly, there was a William in each of generations 7 and 8 in this
group of Kilskyre families.

Nobber McMahons

Another group of early McMahons for whom data exist are the Nobber McMahons.
Three families are documented for generation 5, with decendents possibly up to
generation 9 (Figure E1). Most of the townland addresses for these families are within
a few kilometers of Moate/Ballintillin/Robertstown.

These were descended from either G3 John (through one of his sons, Peter or
Thomas) or another unknown G4 ancestor. There were two James (1781 and 1785) in
generation 6 who together with the James (estimated 1797) born to G6 William (Figure
E1), were candidates to be our G7 ancestor. If neither 1781 nor 1785 James was our
direct ancestor, they may nevertheless have been related to our branch.

Kilbeg McMahons

Only six records were found for Kilbeg Parish in the MHC database (Appendix 1 to
Annex A. and Table B1). Three of these were the sons of G7 James: William (1819),

2 Judith was a very rare name in the database with only three instances being recorded.
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John (1833) and Peter (1834). Three other families existed: Mary born to Peter”
McMahon and Elizabeth Martin in 1868; Andrew born to Robert™ McMahon and Anne
Smyth in 1834; Bridget born to Thomas~ McMahon and Mary Flood in 1829,

Unfortunately, there were no Kilbeg records for generation 7 and earlier so it was
not possible to prove conclusively that G7 James was the son of G6 William and that
his brothers were Peter, Thomas, John, Robert. From the various deductive methods
employed, we are very confident that this indeed was the case (Figure B 1, page 79).
The records are highly suggestive that there was just a single family grouping in Kilbeg
consisting of the families of G7 James, Peter, Thomas and Robert who were in all
probability, brothers. This lends credence to the idea that we are only related to other
descendents of G7 James and not to the bulk of McMahons found in and around
Moynalty in the 19 th and 20 th centuries. We were unable to trace any descendents
of G7 Peter and Robert, but we may have found some for Thomas.

G6 William

Whereas Kilskyre McMahon and his descendants (G3-5) are possible earliest ancestors,
G6 William (Tithe William) is most likely to be our ancestor. This is based largely on
his proven location (Moate), and him being the first to bear the strong family name,
William. Although no records could be found, it is possible that William was married
to a Drake. Fr Paddy was positive about us being related to the Drakes but couldn’t
supply any information (Ref. 13). In this regard, the Mormon records list a Judith
McMahon as having married a Patrick Drake in 1811 (Ref.12). Another Patrick Drake
of Drakerath, Co. Meath, died and left a will in 1789. We can speculate that either his
sister or daughter could have married G6 William.” They, in turn, would then have
begat James circa 1797, who later married Anne Cahile, with G8 William being their
first-born in 1819.

23 A G8 Peter; could have been 1834 ‘Big’ Peter or a cousin.

24 G7 and contemporary of G7 James (brother perhaps?)

%5 Contemporary of G7 James and probably his brother.

26 5ch a match would have been more acceptable to the Drakes if the McMahons still retained some vestiges of former

gentry status from earlier generations of Roger MacMahons in Monaghan.
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4.93

Valuation Table: Tithe Applotment Books

1828 Moate Second Third Fourth Total Half
Quality Quality Quality Yearly Yearly

Payment Payment

William McMahon  £8-0-0 £13-1-0 £1-0-0 £22-1-0 £10-13-7 /2

Table 1: Tithe Applotment Record

Applotment Record

The Tithe Applotment Books for 1828 show a record indicating an annual farm
valuation of £22-1-0 for William McMahon (Table 1). This farm was at Moate and close
to the family burial plot in Robertstown Cemetery (Figure 3). It is known from a
number of oral sources in the family that our branch of the McMahons was located at
Moate prior to being re-located by the landlord to the farm at Trohanny.

Alleged Williamite Connection

This is one of the intriguing aspects of our presumed G6 ancestor. Fr Paddy, when
asked about the origin of the family name, William, simply replied ‘the family was
Williamite.” without further explanation, and as if it were a well known fact. We can
speculate that G6 William’s Great Grandfather might have been the assumed active
Williamite (born circa 1672), i.e. the G3 ancestor or possibly an earlier G2 Roger
McMahon (born circa 1635) from Dartrey, Monaghan (Ch 4.4). Alternatively, if we are
descended from the Kilskyre branch, then G3 John McMahon (born circa 1680) or his
G2 father might qualify. For the Enagh branch in Dartrey (Figure P8), a Williamite
ancestor is even more unlikely, as it would have been Colla Dubh MacMahon (born
circa 1640), whose theoretical great-grandson could have been the first (and
unrecorded) William in the family.”

There are only five incidences of the name ‘William’ in the database up to 1900.
Two are direct descendants of G7 James, two in the Kilskyre branch (at the G7 and
G8 level) and one in a second Rathbawn branch alledgedly not related to our known
Rathbawn relatives. The rarity of the ‘William’ name and its sudden appearance, for
the first (recorded) time, in our branch is hardly (on its own) indicative of our alleged
Williamite origins, especially given that Tithe William was born about 80 years after

T Apart from Fr. Paddy’s assertion and the sudden appearance of the Williamite name in the family, there are no historical
grounds for asserting MacMahon support for William of Orange.
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The Boyne. However, G7 James Christening his first born son, William, is certainly
indicative of a possible lineage (provided the tradition of naming first born sons after
the paternal Grandfather was being followed). In addition, results from the ‘Age Fit’
Model supported this contention (Annex B.1).

McMahons who were loyal Williamite supporters (soldiers or otherwise) could
conceivably have been granted plots of land (in Monaghan or Meath) in lieu of
payment following the Battle of the Boyne (which was close by). This could explain
the use of the Christian name of ‘William’ in our family, but this unlikely historical
scenario hardly constitutes compelling evidence of origins.

Of course, it is far more likely that Williamite soldiers (many of whom were
continental mercenaries) being disbanded in the early 1690’s would have been granted
lands seized from the native Irish, including the McMahons (Annex Q.1).

Often, these disbanded soldiers had no real wish to remain in Ireland, and so their
newly-acquired lands were often leased back to the original owners. In such a
scenario, our earlier ancestors in Monaghan, whatever their religion or Christian
names, would have been strong tenant farmers. Certainly, their chances of retaining
that status would have been enhanced in the early 18th century had they converted to
the state-established church, i.e. Church of Ireland.

Irrespective of religion, a family’s position on the socio-economic ladder was
largely determined by each particular generation’s ability (in working a farm & keeping
up rental payments) and the tenancy they acquired; there was no guarantee that the
tenancy would be passed on to the next generation, and so family fortunes likely
waned with the passing generations, regardless of professed religion. Large families
would have seen the younger sons either emigrating to join the continental armies or
the Church or else seeking tenancies wherever they could find them. In all liklihood,
this would have resulted in a gradual descension down the socio-economic ladder.

There was also a general family belief that the Rev. Peter McMahon” was G6
William’s brother. If the family had ever turned Protestant in line with the alleged
Williamite connection, it must have been in the late 17th or early 18th century,z9 as
Peter had obviously reverted to Catholicism by the time that he was ordained in 1788.

28 Born circa 1761 in Robertstown; ordained in Navan by Dr Plunkett 1788; Parish Priest Moynalty 1801-1831 on his death.

%9 Reference the example with Cullough MacMahon of Dartrey (Figure Pg).
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4.9.4

Applotment Records for Moynalty

These records consisted of names only of some of those living in Moynalty Parish
who paid Tithes in 1828 (Ref. 14). These would have been contempories of our G6
William and included, among others, is his brother the Rev Peter McMahon.

There is also a record from the Farrell Estate in 1824 (Figure E2, page 86) showing
a Father P. McMahon resident in Rathbawn who, it is assumed, was the same person.
The site of Fr. Peter McMahon’s church was adjacent to Joe McMahon’s farm in
Rathbane.

The John McMahon shown could have been a brother of the Rev. Peter or have
been unrelated. Some of the other Tithe payer names that had associations with our
family were: Caffrey, Cahill, Carolan, Fay, Gargan, Gauley, McGauley, McMahon,
Maxwell, Monaghan, Mulvanny, Rountree, Sheridan, Yore.
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5.1

5.2

G7-Gg McMahons

A generation after that of G6 William, there was a Peter McMahon of Moate listed in
Griffith’s Valuation of 1854 (Table F2).

Peter of Moate

This Peter, a possible brother of G7 James,” was recorded as having land at Moate,
Ballintillin and Ardmagh Breague, and was most probably the son of G6 William
and occupying the same Moate farm as his father had. There could of course have
been more than one Peter; equally, the one Peter could have expanded the original
farm by leasing extra land (these three townlands border each other). If the latter was
true, then he managed to double the acreage of the farm (and rateable value) between
1828 and 1854. Running 70 acres of land would have made him a ‘strong’ farmer by
the standards of the day. Our assessment was that G7 Peter was the brother of our
documented G7 James.

There is a record for Kilbeg Parish of December 7 1820, ‘Peter McMahon married
Ejsy Fairs (as best as | could decipher it — PM): Witnesses: — James Weldon and O.
Rogers'.

This could well be G7 Peter’'s marriage record (he would have been about 21 years
old in 1820). Even though this is well within the recording period for Kilbeg, there is
no evidence, or recollection in the family, of offspring. The counterargument is that
Peter of Moate remained a bachelor; he was certainly still alive in 1854 (Table F2).

James McMahon and Anne Cahile

G7 James McMahon, was likely born circa 1797 (Figure B1). He and Anne Cahile
(Cahill) gave birth to our Great-Grandfather (G8) William in 1819 (Annex E1). We
are descended directly from this couple.

3% There is no record of G7 James holding his own farm; he may simply have assisted his brother on the 70-acre Moate

farm, when he was not philandering about the countryside.
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5.4

A decade later, there are records to show that a James and Anne McMahon had a
son Hugh (1830) and a daughter Margaret (1831) in the adjacent Parish of Castletown
Kilpatrick. It is possible, though unlikely, that this is another couple.y Anne Cahile died
in 1837, while the date of her partner James’s death is unknown. Her death post-dated
her partner having a son Peter with Catherine Daly in 1834 (Ch5.4).

James McMahon and Rose Cooney

The records also indicate that G7 James fathered John (born 1823), whose Mother was
Rose Cooney. He may well have been the John McMahon Jr shown by Griffith’s to
have been in Trohanny in 1854 (Table F1). He may also have been the John
McMahon who later married Mary Finegan circa 1855, and had four children (Patrick
(1856), Catherine (1859), Michael (1861) and John (1864). There is little further trace
of them in the records,” which may well indicate subsequent emigration.

James McMahon and Catherine Daly

There is another McMahon family that is definitely related to us, that of G11 Peter
McMahon of Rathbane. This relationship has been recognized and acknowledged by
both families. G11 Peter is descended from G10 Joseph, whose oral testimony (in
1976) confirmed that G9 Joseph was his Father and whose written testimony (Annex
R1) confirmed that G8 Peter (Big Peter) was his Grandfather. G10 Joseph (1896) was
the youngest of six, with the eldest, Catherine, being born in 1883. Our analysis
indicated that G9 Joseph would have been born about 1856, with the absense of a
birth record being best explained by the 7-year gap in the Kilbeg Parish records
between 1852-1858. This would make G8 Peter (1834) the most probable candidate”
to have been G9 Joseph’s father.

However, the G.11 McMahons of Rathbane believe that their great-grandfather, G8
Peter, was born circa 1820. This assertion is based upon their belief (from their oral
history) that Peter's son, G9 Joseph., was 80 years old at the time of his death in
1925; it would follow from this that his date of birth would have been 1845. The
problem with this argument is that there is no written evidence to support it at all.
Neither the Meath Heritage Centre records (Ref. 3) nor the church records show the
birth of any other Peter born to a James, save the one in 1834. Indeed, this was the
only Peter fathered by a James in all of North Meath in the entire database.

3" Fr.paddy asserted that Hugh was not a family name, although the name appears in Gen.10 (Hugh Magee, gt.grandson
of Gen.7 James McMahon).

32 Although there was a Michael McMahon of Moynalty who married Elizabeth Cole and had 3 children: Mary 1889, John
1891 and Catherine 1894. Michael was an unusual family name, and the dates fit.

B if it wasn't he, then we would be unrelated to the Rathbawn McMahons.
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5.6

The Kilbeg Parish records stipulate that, for each of G8 William, John and Peter, the
father was a James McMahon. In the absence of records for any other James, we must
assume that it was the same man (G7 James) who was the common ancestor to both
branches of the family.

We are assuming that Big Peter was not the Peter recorded in Griffith’s Valuation
of 1854 as having held land at Moate etc., as Big Peter would have been only aged 20
at that time. The prefix ‘Big’ was clearly used to distinguish him from the Peter who
held the farm at Moate, who may indeed have been his uncle. Oral history has it that
both Big Peter and his older half-brother G6 William were moved from Moate by the
landlord, Jack ‘The Leveller’ Farrell.” Big Peter was settled on a farm in the Leitrim
district of North Meath, and later moved to Rathbane. His half-brother, William, and
his other half-brother, John Jr., were settled with their uncle John on the Trohanny
(Maio) farm (oral history and Table F1).

Other G7 Siblings of James

The sparse records for Kilbeg Parish (Ch 4.9) indicate that James probably had two
brothers in addition to those already described, Peter (Ch 5.1) and John (Annex H1).
These were Thomas and Robert. Robert had a son Andrew but no trace of either of
them was found in later records nor were they known family names. Thomas on the
other hand was a family name, but we were unable to establish if the later Tommies
were descended from him (but see Ch 6.3.1 for additional information).

James’s Occupation

The strange thing about G7 James is that the only records for him were for his
children’s baptisms. There are no records of him holding a tenancy, even a modest
one, and no family recollections of him at all (Griffith’s Valuation does, however,
record in 1855 two James McMahons, one living in Moynalty and one in Carrigagh,
Moynalty).

This has led us to the conclusion that he was not very successful in life (apart from
siring children) and he may have laboured for his brother Peter on the Moate farm or
for his various in-laws. Equally, he could have been even lower down the social scale
and been a complete waster, thus accounting for the family amnesia. From our most
recent analysis, it is possible to conclude that he abandoned his family and emigrated
(or died) in or around 1834. The most telling evidence for this is that his known sons
(William, John Jr and Peter) finished up being ‘looked after’ by ‘Uncle’ John in Maio
(Ch.H.1).

34 This piece of oral history may be inaccurate, as the landlords for the Moate & Maio Estates were the Marquis of Headfort
and John Radcliff respectively.
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Figure 9: G8 Great-Grandmother Jane (Monaghan) McMahon
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6.1

McMahons of Trohanny

The McMahons were relatively late arrivals in Trohanny (See Annex H6), the first
being G7 John and his nephew G8 William (our Gt Grandfather) in or around 1834.
Before that, most of the townlands of Moynalty (including Trohanny) (Figure 7), were
owned by members of the Betagh Family (Ch 4.1) and presumably numerous other
later tenants after the Betaghs. The specific tenants who occupied the Maio farm
immediately prior to the McMahons were named Gauley.

Maio

The name ‘Maio’ was always used as the farm address (which is at Grid N 723 892,
Figure 7), even on official correspondence, despite it not being a townland name.
The explanation for the name is that it was an ancient name for the townland used
(officially) in the 1650s (Ch 4.1). This was reinforced by the discovery of ‘Mayo
House’ on an 1830 O.S. Map. This was a substantial u-shaped dwelling consistent
with it being a ‘Manor House’. From the map location (Grid N718 915), it was only
about 2.5Km north of the farmstead. At some stage, ‘Mayo House' was probably
‘The Big House’ in the area and its owners farmed the land for several miles around
as their Estate in the 17th century. Hence the names ‘Moyo’ (17th century), ‘Mayoe’,
‘Mayo’ or ‘Maio’ (the latter three spellings have been seen on legal documents) were
applied to these estate lands and were kept in use by later generations right up to the
present. By the 1830’s, John Radcliff was the Landlord of the Maio Estate (Annex L.3).
From the same O.S. map, the location of ‘Maio School’ was also found (about half a
kilometre north of the farm, at Grid N722 898). Whether the occupants of Mayo House
and lands were tenants of Radcliff or landowners, we could not establish. The Family
living there in the early part of the 20th century were called Rountree.”

35 Griffith’s Valuation (1854) showed Rountrees to be tenants of Radcliff in Golashane Townland, adjacent to Trohanny

(Ref 14).
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Figure 7: North-West Meath: Part of OS 1:50,000 Discovery Series 35.
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Figure 8: Maio farmhouse circa 1950 (left) and in 2007 (right).

6.2

6.3

Occupation of Maio

The first McMahon occupant was allegedly G7 John (‘Uncle John’) who presumably
acquired the tenancy sometime around 1830. He had no family of his own and took
in his nephew, G8 William to help work the farm (Ref. 13 and Annex J4). The
original farmhouse was adjacent to the road and in the field above the backyard of
the current house on the site.

Great Grandfather William (G8)

William began life in 1819, born to G7 James and Anne Cahile. It is assumed that he
was living somewhere in Kilbeg Parish, possibly on Moate Farm, as his birth was
registered in Kilbeg.

We have no knowledge where the family resided after that, other than the
possibility that they were in the neighbouring parish of Castletown Kilpatrick between
1829 and 1831. This is based on the fact that a Hugh (1830) and a Margaret (1831)
were born to a James and Anne in that parish (the assumption here being it was the
same James and Anne who had earlier produced William in Kilbeg parish). The father
James, seems to have also had a relationship with Rose Cooney and produced a son
John in 1823 before resuming relations with Anne Cahill sometime prior to 1830. For
his part, William, at age 20, may even have dallied with a Rose Clarke producing a son
Patrick in 1839 in Moynalty; such a record exists but it may relate to one of the two
(younger) Kilskyre Williams (1821 or 1823).

In 1851, (at age 32), William married Jane Monaghan (aged 25). Presumably,
William had not yet taken over the Maio farm from his Uncle John, although he had
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acquired his own tenancy. Griffith’s valua-
tion lists them both as being still resident in
Trohanny and possibly living in the same
house in 1854 (Annex F2). John and William
between them had 52 acres, a sizable farm
by the standard of the day.”

William had a holding of more than 22
acres (including some bogland) in 1854. By
that time, William and Jane had started a
family and ultimately had seven children,
with the last born being our G9 Grandfather,
Patrick (Table 2). With a growing family,
William found it necessary to take on a lease
of extra acreage (circa 12 extra acres by our
reckoning) in 1877 (Appendix 1 to Annex H

. . on page 106). This extra acreage brought his

Grandmother Margaret (Farrelly) holding up to 35 statute acres (circa 22 Irish
McMahon acres), the maximum permitted by Landlord
Radcliff; this was the amount inherited by

his widow Jane and subsequently their son Patrick (Appendix 4 to Annex H, page 109).

The leasehold agreements provide us with a perspective on farming conditions at
that time and how landlords controlled the size of their tenant farms ensuring that few,
if any, got above a maximum size (in Radcliff's case, 22 Irish acres in Trohanny
Townland). The data examined indicated that this maximum acreage varied through-
out the parish of Moynalty, being particularly low in Trohanny. William was reputed
to be an entrepreneurial sort of guy. He expanded the farm by leasing extra fields,
traded to Drogheda and Dublin, ran a shop in Maio, installed horse powered tread-
mill machinery to the rear of the house,” bought the long case clock for £8 in 1868
(Annex H3) and even left £40+ in his will when he died in 1900 (Appendix 5 to Annex
H, page 110). Even in his old age, he took the initiative in arranging his son Patrick’s
bethrothal.

However, he was probably best remembered for his wake which he may even have
arranged (Appendix 3 to Annex H). The main items that stand out in the bill were: 3
galls spirit £2-14-0; 4 lbs twist tobacco £0-14-0; 1 gross pipes £0-3-0, 10 long candles
£0-1-8 and some bottles of claret and Port wine. Some party! (see Table H2 for current
values).

36 From the ‘Name Books’ produced in Griffith’s time (Ref 14), Trohanny means ‘a poor morass'’. Radcliff let the land at 21

shillings per acre in farms of 3.5 to 22 Irish acres.

37 This was geared to run a shaft and pulley system within the creamery. As far as | (PM) can tell, this was used to drive a
winnowing machine (precursor to a thrashing machine) and churning equipment for butter making. It was later
donated to the Moynalty Museum of Farm Machinery by G1o Jim.
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Go Occupation
Bridget 1851 Housewife
Mary 1854 Housewife
Jane 1856 ?

John 1859 Fireman?
Peter 1863 Farmer
James 1865 Policeman

Patrick 1868 Farmer

Lived

Married

William Smith

Kilmainham  Michael Magee

Wood

Maio

New York

Maio

New York

Maio

Died g February
1897
Mary McLaughlin

Mary Lynch

Margaret Farrelly

G10

Michael
William
Mary
Thomas
John
Jane
Patrick

Frank
Peter
Maggie
Jane
Hugh
Bridget
Katy
Mary

Jimmie
Mary

Mary
Jane
William
Edward
Patrick
Peter
Katie

William
Eugene
Jennie
Jim
Paddy

1891
1886

1901

1889
1891

1893
1895
1898
1900
1901

1902
1904
1906
1910
1912

Table 2: G8 William’s Family and Descendants
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6.3.1

6.3.2

G8 Cousins

A similar Will record for Thomas (Farmer) McMahon, 1913 of Carrickleck, Meath was
also found in the Mormon archives (Ref. 12). This could well be an elderly brother (of
which there is no record) or cousin of William. Incidentally, the designation
...(Farmer)... is unique to these two records, suggesting they were submitted by the
same person (relative/landlord?) and that both William and Thomas were related.
There is strong oral history to indicate a ‘Tommy’ relative. A contender could be
Thomas (1867) born to Thomas and Mary Carolan.

Alternatively, it could be the Thomas (1845) born to John and Mary of Moynalty
Parish. John and Mary also had two other sons, James (1833) and Roger (1843), the
latter being favourite to have been the bare knuckle fighter (Annex J3). The odds are
that this last holder of the name ‘Roger’ was some kind of cousin, and also descended
from G5 Roger. If so, his father, John, may have been descended from an unrecorded
brother (named Thomas) of G6 William of Moate.

The Baker McMahons (Gg)
Grandfather Patrick and family were referred
to as ‘The Baker McMahons’ (Figure 10).

Apparently, Grandfather Patrick as a
youth (youngest in the family and without
prospects), had migrated to Dublin where he
worked in a shop (presumably a grocer’s or
bakery) before being recalled to do his duty
on the farm about the time of William’s
death in 1900 (two of his older brothers,
John and James, had emigrated to America
long before this time). Peter, his remaining
elder brother, had begat most of his family
long before William’'s death (Peter’s eldest
was born in 1889) and presumably ran the
farm in Maio until Patrick’s return or until he
had acquired the farm up the road at the
back of Maio School. The ‘Baker’ name was
to distinguish us from them and two or three
other McMahon families living within a few
hundred yards of the Maio farm (Appendix 2
to Annex H).

Shortly after his father’'s death, Patrick
married Margaret Farrelly (Prior to then, practical considerations of available living
space would have made it difficult to bring a bride into the Maio farmhouse). Margaret

Figure 10: Gg Patrick McMahon,
wife Margaret and daughter
Jennie, circa 1950
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had been a teaching assistant at the primary
school in Stradone Co. Cavan.”

Apparently, Gt Grandfather (G8) William and
Eugene Farrelly (Margaret’'s father) were friends
and met up one day in Bailieborough (presumably
in the late 1890's) and arranged (no doubt over a
pint) that the returning Baker Patrick should have
a wife to support him in his new farmer lifestyle
(Ref. 13). Thus a deal was struck and Margaret was
nominated to be his bride. As she lived and
worked as a teaching assistant in Clifferna,
Stradone, Co. Cavan, it wasn't practical to do
much ‘walking out’; besides, there wasn’t a lot of
time. In any event, Gt. Grandfather William died in
November 1900 and his widow Jane signed over
the farm lease to Patrick on 6 May 1901 (Figure 11
and Appendix 4 to Annex H). Five months later,
the marriage agreement previously arranged by
the two drinking buddies was contracted when
Patrick married Margaret on 3 October 1901. It
does explain a lot though, and certainly the rather
terse entry in the Grandmother's notebook...
“Patrick McMahon married 3rd October 1901"...
(no lovey-dovey nonsense here!). We know she
was a tough woman but imagine meeting and
marrying a stranger, and then having to live cheek
by jowl with the mother-in-law as well for the next
13 years! But it worked!

Think of it this way — we owe our existence to
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Figure 11: Cover of agreement

this meeting in a Bailieborough pub in the latter part of the nineteenth century!

My (PM) recollection of the farm boundary in the 1940/1950s is indicated by the
green tint on Figure 12; the farm had been increased to about 40 acres by this time.
This is only approximate, as the map predates my time and some features may have
changed. Other surrounding features are also indicated. Rose Yore told me (PM) that
G10 William McMahon's family (her family) were known as ‘McMahons in Maio

on-the hill".
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Clifferna, Stradone.

Her old English grammar book was discovered in the shed on the Maio farm, containing her signature and address of
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Figure 12: Boundary of Farm on 1:4000 OS Map of circa 1840
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6.3.3

6.4

1901 Census
The 1901 Census records the residents of the Maio farmhouse in Trohanny as being:
“Jane McMahon (aged 75), Patrick McMahon (aged 30),39 grand-daughter Margaret
McGee (aged 15), gt-grandson William Richardson (aged 6) and servant James Smith
(aged 15).”

Neighbours also called McMahon

Griffith’s Valuation of 1854 showed 22 other McMahon holdings around the Maio farm
(17 of these were in the same Parish of Moynalty) (Table F3 and Figure F1). This
showed an amazing distribution by any standard, especially having 11 of the 17
McMahon families in such a small area of Moynalty Parish (most are within half a day’s
walk of each other). However, only the five shown in Trohanny were thought to be
related.

Moving on 70 years, we learnt from Fr.Paddy of the other McMahon lines that had
existed about half a mile from the Maio farm and had not been listed by Griffith in
1854,

There was ‘Johnny in-the-hollow’ (whose father was ‘Joe in-the-hollow’ (G8),
allegedly not related to us and living opposite Caffreys (Appendix 2 to Annex H on
page 107). There was also a ‘Johnny-the-rock’ (across the river from the farm),
related to Johnny-in-the-hollow but not to us according to Paddy. They, on the other

hand, claimed that they were related to us at the G6 level (Annex J1).

Close Relatives

The records of descent through G8 William (1819-1900)/Jane Monaghan (1826-1914)
are much clearer. We can trace four distinct and prolific lines of descent through four
of their seven children (Table 2)

39 He was in fact born in 1868; this would make him aged 32-33in1901.
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6.6

Other McMahons of Maio

Certainly, the family surname appears very frequently in the birth records for the
district of Maio during the latter part of the 19th century. There were many more
recorded for Moynalty Parish (without giving the townland name) some of whom
could also have been in Maio. There were at least three other main Maio McMahon
families for whom it was not possible to detect any relationship with our branch.
These were:

Joseph McMahon/Bridget MacCormick: producing 8 children (1865-80)

Joseph McMahon/Mary Clarke: producing 5 children (1871-81)

Owen McMahon/Rose Englishby: producing 5 children (1881-91)
The duplication of Christian names in such a small area could only have been
confusing, especially when you consider that our family branches would also, at the

same time, have had members named Joseph, Patrick, Peter and James living close by,
and apparently unrelated to these other close neighbours of the same names.
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7.1

G10 McMahons

By this generation, the known family members could be divided into five branches.

These were:
1 Descendants of G9 Patrick and Margaret Farrelly
Descendants of G9 Peter and Mary Lynch

a b~ w N

Descendants of G9 Joesph and Rose Daly.

Descendents of G9 Brigid McMahon and William Smith
Descendents of G9 Mary McMahon and Michael Magee

Patrick, Peter, Brigid and Mary, were siblings and Joesph was their first cousin (Figure

E3).

Patrick’s Family

Patrick and Margaret reared their family (Figure 13,
Figure 14) on the Maio Farm. Eugene and Paddy both
spent their early years working on the farm and later
training as farm managers before moving away;
Eugene moved to university in Dublin, Paddy to the
Oblates in Piltown and then to Natal, South Africa. Jim
remained on the farm and took over its running circa
1950. Margaret died in 1951 and Patrick in 1952, Jim
and Jennie remained on the farm until they retired to
Kells in 1980.

G10 Eugene (Figure 14), after attending secondary
school in Mullingar, trained as a farm manager.
Afterwards, he attended U.C.D, where he was active in
the Agricultural Society (Figure 15). His subsequent
teaching career was in the UCD Faculty of Agriculture

Figure 13: (I to r) Grandmother
Margaret, son Jim,
Grandfather Patrick,
son Paddy, daughter
Jennie circa 1940.
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G1o
William 1902

Eugene 1904

Jennie 1906

Jim 1910

Paddy 1912

Occupation
Died young
University

Lecturer/
Professor

Housekeeper
for brother

Farmer

Priest

Lived Married Gn

Maio

Maio/ Florence Doyle Patrick

Dublin Dublin Larry
Eugene
Mary
Brendan

Maio =

Maio =

Maio/

South Africa -

1937
1941

1943
1945
1949

Table 3: Gg Patrick’s Family and their G11 descendents

Figure 14: Eugene McMahon,
circa 1932.

later Professor, in entomology.

at Albert College in Glasnevin (site of the present day
DCU). His research training was in entomology where
he specialised in the study of nemotodes and wheat
midge. He ultimately became a Statutory Lecturer, and

Figure 15: Founding members of Agricultural Society,

1929
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G1o McMahons

G10 Occupation Lived Married Gn
Mary 1889 Housewife Ireland Frank Byrne ?
Jane 1891 ? Ireland ? ?
William 1893 Farmer Maio/ Kathleen Gallagher ~ Mary 1930
Carlanstown Peter 1932
Rose 1934
Paddy 1937
Edward 1895 ? Ireland - ?
Patrick 1898 Farmer Newcastle M. Russell ?
Peter 1900 IRA Maio/ _ _
Laytown
Katie 1901 Housewife Navan Michael Hilliard Cormac Enda
Ben Kathleen
Oliver  Ronan
Mary  Sr Attracta
Nancy SrFidelis
Colm

7.2

Table 4: Gg Peter’s Family and their G11 descendents

Peter’s Family

G9 Peter (1863) raised his family on a farm (Maio-on-the-hill) about half a mile from
Patrick’s farm. His son, William took over the running of the farm and had his family
there. In the 1940’s, William and his family moved to a farm in Carlanstown and his
brother Peter continued on the farm. Patrick (Red Paddy) married Margaret Russell and
farmed in Newcastle. Peter, for services to the State, was rewarded with a better farm
in Laytown. Katie married Mick Hilliard (who became Minister for Posts and
Telegraphs 1959-65 and Minister for Defence 1965-69); they had 11 children.”

4% Their son, Colm was the Fianna Fail TD for Meath 1982-97.
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G1o Occupation Lived Married
Michael 1907 ? ? ?

William ? ? ?

Mary ? ? Richardson
Tom ? ? ?

John ? ? ?

Jane ? ? ?

Patrick ? ? ?

Gn

Tom
Son
Daughter
Daughter

?

William

1895-

73

Table 5: Gg Brigid’s Family and their G11 descendents

The Smiths

G9 Brigid (1851), eldest sister of our Grandfather, married William Smith and had

seven children and five known grandchildren. Little else is known of this family.
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G10 Occupation Lived Married Gn

Frank ? ? ? ?

Peter Farmer Kilmainham  Margaret Coleman  Pascal

1891-1971 Wood Paddy
Jane
Edmund
Philomena
Mike
Myra
Esther
Greta

Maggie 1886 ? ? Tavis ?

Jane ? ? ? ?

Hugh ? ? ? ?

Brigid ? ? ? ?

Katie ? ? ? ?

Mary ? ? Riordan Evelyn

Table 6: G9 Mary’s Family and their G11 descendents

The Magees

G9 Mary McMahon (1854), second eldest sister of our Grandfather, married Michael
Magee and had eight children. Again, little else is known to the authors about this
family other than the fact that they were frequent visitors to the Maio Farm.
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G1o Occupation Lived Married

Catherine 1883 ? Ireland ?

Peter 1885 Garda Dublin Yes

1885-1945

Bernard 1887 ? U. Leitrim Tavis
Meath

Anne 1889 ? Ireland ?

Mary Agnes

1893 ? Ireland ?

Joseph Jr. Farmer U. Leitrim & Mary Reilly

1896 (Died 1986) Rathbawn

Gn

Rosie m. O’Mahony
Daughter
Daughter

?

Rosaleen 1943
Kathleen 1945

Mary 1946
Peter 1947
Annette 1948
Celine 1949
Margarete 1951

Joan 1957

15

Table 7: G9 Joseph’s Family and their G11 descendents

Go Joseph’s Family

Big Peter McMahon (half-brother of G8 William) had two children that we know of:
G9 Joseph (1856) and Brigid. Brigid Married John McCormack, and had seven
children. G9 Joseph married Rose Daly and had six children (Table 7).
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8 G11 and G12 McMahons

8 G11 and G12 McMahons

The five G10 branches of the family, descended from generation 9, who went on to
produce the future generations are described in Chapter 7. In this chapter, the G11,
G12 and in some cases the G13 descendants are tabulated.

8.1 G1o Eugene's Family

G10 Eugene was the only member of G9 Patrick and Margaret's family to
have married and produced children. The G11 members of his family,
together with their children and grand-children, are shown in Table 8.

Figure 16: G1o Eugene Figure 17: (l. to r.): Uncle Desmond Doyle (about 5 yrs), John Brady (best
McMahon and man), Gio Eugene, Mrs Brady to rear, Gio Jennie McMahon
wife Florence (holding Joan Doyle), Florence (Doyle) McMahon, Pearl Halpin?,
Doyle on their Grandfather Laurence Doyle, baby Uncle Fergus Doyle, Grand-
wedding day, mother Tessie (Mulligan) Doyle (holding Fergus), Olive Halpin?,
8 August 1934. sister of Tessie Mulligan (either Mol or Maggie), 8 August 1934.
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Gn

Patrick
1937

Larry
1941

Eugene
1943

Mary
1945

Brendan
1949

Occupation

Geneticist/
Operational
Analyst
British
Ministry of
Defence

Marketing

Consultant
IMI / Hypno
therapist

Secondary
School
Teacher and
Union
President

Community
College
Teacher

Diplomat
Irish Foreign
Service

Lived

UK

Ireland

Canada

Ireland

Dublin/
Abroad

Married

Grania Claffey

Heidi Grabinger

Anne Gouldsbury

Peader
Mulligan

Irene Farren

G12

Caroline (UK)

Brian (UK)
Eoin (UK)

Peter (Ger)
Katie (USA)

Rob (Toronto)
Fiona (Paris)

Colin (Toronto)

Sheelagh (Irl)

Eugene (USA)

Sinead (Irl)
Patricia (Irl)

Stephen (Aus)

Sarah (UK)

Elizabeth (UK)

G13

lain
Sarah
Ciaran

Maximillian (Ger)
Michael (USA)

Nova, Lara, Kate
Delta (Skerries)

Hanah, Ellie
(Melbourne)

Table 8: Generation 11 and beyond for Gio Eugene’s Branch of the Family

G10 Eugene married Florence Doyle on the 8th August 1934 (Figure 16, Figure 17)
and produced the five of us as shown in Table 8. We lived in Hampstead Park,
Glasnevin, Dublin.
During World War 2, transport was difficult in Dublin. Our Father’s solution to the
problem of visiting the Doyles in Rathgar is shown in Figure 18. This was sufficient
novelty at the time for an Irish Times photographer to take the shot and publish it.
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G11and G12 McMahons

Figure 18: Family on wheels,
1942 (Irish Times).
G1o Eugene and
Florence with
G11 Patrick (crossbar
saddle) and Larry
(in trailer).

Figure 19: G11 Eugene, Mary,
Brendan, Patrick,
Larry in Rathgar
circa 1950

Patrick and Grania
receiving the Silver
Tea Service
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Figure 21: Some G12 cousins
(I to r) Katie,
Stephen, and Sarah
McMahon;
Sinead, Eugene and
Sheelagh Mulligan;
Brian McMahon.
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G11and G12 McMahons

Gn Occupation Lived Married G12 G13
Mary 1930 Housewife Carnacross Michael Yore Michael Katie
Eugene Laura
Liam Gavin
Caolan
Mairead Rose
Anthony
Megan
Mark
Paraic Colin
Aoife
Cian
Shane
Domenic Eadaoin
Cormac
Oisin
Francis Leonne
Michael
Peter 1932 Farmer Carlanstown  Brigid Price William Aimee
Rose 1934 Housewife UK and Kells ~ Bernard Yore Mary Jack
Daniel
Niamh
Theresa —
Ann Ellen
Bernard —
Paddy 1937 Businessman  Moynalty Philomena Assumpta -
Flanagan Mark David
Ronan
Hilda Darrel
Shauna
Hazel
Lauren
Paula =
Padraig

Table 9: Generation 11 and beyond for Gio William’s Branch of the Family

8.2 G1o William’s Family

G10 William, the son of G9 Peter and Mary, married and produced four children. The
G11 members of his family together with their children and grand-children are show
in Table 9.
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Gn Occupation Lived Married G12 G13
Cormac Br Benignus Dublin = = =
Ben Navan Kathleen Deane ? ?
Oliver Navan Eilis Swan Simon ?
Steven ?
Enda ?
Damien ?
Mary Tom Locke Tony ?
Mary ?
Campbell ?
Pauline Cathal O’Farrell 2 ?
Monica Terry Stapleton ~ Mary ?
Nancy Sr Pauline
Colm Navan Margy Quinn Kevin ?
Fergus ?
Ursla ?
Dara ?
Enda Navan
Kathleen Tom Hughes Cian ?
Ronan Navan Marie Murtagh  Paul ?
Brian ?
Sue ?
Jane ?
? Sr Attracta
? Sr Fidelis

Table 10: Generation 11 and beyond for Gio Katie’s Branch of the Family.

G10 Katie McMahon-Hilliard’s Family

Katie, G10 William’s youngest sister, married Mick Hilliard and had the family shown
in Table 10. The family was remarkable not only for its size but also for the high
proportion that entered religious orders.
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G11and G12 McMahons

Gn Occupation Lived Married G12 G13
Rosaleen 1943 Rathbawn John Kingham David
Elaine
Kathleen 1945 Rathbawn Tom Corcoran Mark
Niall
Mary 1946 Rathbawn
Peter 1947 Farmer Rathbawn Phyllis Fagan Dawn
Fergal Joe
Karl
Peter
Annette 1948 Rathbawn
Celine 1949 Rathbawn Mansfield Emma
Margarete 1951 Rathbawn
Joan 1957 Rathbawn

Table 11: Generation 11 and beyond for G1o Joseph’s Branch of the Family.

8.4 G10 Joseph’s Family

G10 Joseph (1896, son of G9 Joseph) married Mary Reilly and had the family shown
in Table 11.
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) 8.5 G10 Peter Magee’s Family

Gn Married G12

Pascal B.Walsh Maureen G10 Peter Magee (1891, son of
Peggy G9 Mary (McMahon) Magee
Peter married Margaret Coleman and
Kevin had the family shown in Table

12.
Paddy Paul

Angela
Peter
Mary
Sylvia
Ray

Jane N. Rennick Sue
Patrick
Declan
Debra
Emmett

Edmund D. Proudfoot Niall
Enda

Philomena M. Costello Dolores

Mike M. Sheehy Cliona
Dave
Ronan
Rachel

Myra B. Hunt Jeremy
Shona

Esther L. McDermot Tom
Noleen
Gabriel
Grania
Caitrona

Greta P McGloughlin Peter

Table 12: Generation 11 and beyond for G1o Peter
Magee’s Family.
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Line of Descent

Combining information from the early genealogical records for the McMahons of
Monaghan and our direct endeavours, we can deduce the following three levels of
certainty for the family line of descent.

G1

G1

G2

G3

Gq

Gs

G6

Possibly from:
Roger McMahon of Killynenagh/Kilnanaw in Currin, Dartrey (born 1615-25)

or
Colla Dubh MacMahon circa 1630-1695 of Dartrey
Patrick MacMahon (born 1655?) in Dartrey (he was not the son of G1 Roger)

Roger MacMahon (born 1690?) of Enagh/Eliz.Beatie?+ Culagh MacMahon
(brother)

A speculative William MacMahon (born 1715?- 1795?)...or Hugh MacMahon
(son of Culagh) circa 1704.

Seemingly from:
Magheracloone Roger McMahon of South Monaghan/Moate (1735?-1813?)

William McMahon of Moate (circa 1763/1773 — circa 1852)/Drake?

40

One alternative line of descent is shown in Fig B1, page 79.

A speculative royal line of descent is shown in Annex P7, page 154.
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Definitely from:
G7  James McMahon (1797-1877?)/Anne Cahill (1877-1837) of Moate, Kilbeg Parish

G8  William McMahon (1819-1900)/Jane Monaghan (1826-1914) of Trohanny/Maio,
Moynalty

Gg  Patrick McMahon (1868-1952)/Margaret Farrelly (1871-1951), Trohanny/Maio,
Moynalty
Of their five children (Willy died at birth), only our father, Eugene married:

Gio Eugene McMahon (1904-1978)/Florence Doyle (1912-1992) of Dublin.

Gn  Their 5 children (Patrick, Larry, Eugene, Mary and Brendan) all married and
had children as shown in Table 8.

The above scenario cannot include both Roger McMahon (1615-25) and Roger
McMahon (circa 1690), as the earlier one is not the ancestor of the later one. If we
choose 1690 Roger, then the direct line of descent would stretch back to Eochaidh
in 1250 A.D (Annex P7 and P8).

Going forward, 1690 Roger could be: a) the father, b) the grandfather or c) the
grand-uncle of Maheracloone Roger. If, instead, we select 1615-25 Roger, then he
remains our ‘ultimate ancestor.” In this case, we are left to account for two or three
missing generations before we get to Maheracloone Roger (born 1735?).
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10.1

Conclusions

Direct descent

We have concluded with some confidence that the family originated in Co. Monaghan
and the earliest named ancestor was possibly a Roger from the Barony of Dartrey. His
possible descendant, Roger (from Magheracloone Parish near Carrickmacross, South
Monaghan) could have moved from there into North Meath in the late 18th century or
very early 19th century.

The earliest known member of our family line started with a Roger (circa 1735-
1813). Wherever he came from (Magheracloone or otherwise), this G5 Roger left his
indelible mark on a tombstone in Robertstown cemetery. Roger was probably the first
family member to be interred in Robertstown, sometime around 1813 or shortly there-
after. We have further concluded that Roger was the father of William of Moate (circa
1768), Peter (circa 1761) (who later became the P.P. in Moynalty) and possibly a John.

G6 William (circa 1768) had at least three sons, Peter (circa 1799), James (circa
1797), John (circa 1805) and possibly a fourth, Thomas (circa 1802), and maybe even
a Robert. Peter took over the family farm at Moate from his father and may have
expanded it to about 70 acres. He didn’t produce any recorded children, although he
may have been the Peter who married Ejsy Fairs in 1820. Many years after Pete’s death,
circa 1870's-1880's, the ancestral Moate Farm came back into family hands when it
was purchased by our grand-uncle, G9 James, upon his return to Ireland in 1927 (Ref
page 112).

G7 James (circa 1797) was our direct ancestor who, with Anne Cahile, produced
our Great Grandfather William, as recorded in Kilbeg Parish in 1819; he also sired at
least two other sons, John (1823) and Peter (1834), the latter giving rise to the Leitrim/
Rathbane branch of the family.

In about 1834, Great Grandfather William joined his Uncle John (born circa 1805)
on his farm in Trohanny, Moynalty. He eventually (by 1854) acquired a 22 acre (Irish
measure) tenancy of his own. This then became the family homestead of Maio for the
next 141 years until it was first set and then sold for IR£30,000 by our Uncle (G10) Jim
to the Sheridans circa 1995.

In 1851, William married Jane Monaghan (1826-1914) and went on to produce
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10.2

10.3

10.4

seven children. Their eldest, Bridget, married William Smith and produced seven
children; Mary married Michael Magee and had eight children; Jane died 1897; John
and James emigrated to the USA (John may have had at least one child, Jimmy); Peter
(1863) and Patrick (1868) farmed adjacent holdings in Trohanny (Peter married Mary
Lynch and had five children). Patrick married Margaret Farrelly in 1901 and between
them produced William (1902) who died in infancy, Eugene (1904) (our Father),
Jennie (1906), Jim (1910) and Paddy (1912).

Eugene moved to Dublin and went on to further education, becoming a Statutory
Lecturer, and later a Professor, in the Faculty of Agriculture, UCD. Paddy became an
Oblate Priest and served as a missionary in Natal, South Africa from 1946 to the
present day. Jim and Jennie remained unmarried and occupied the farm until the late
1980s when they retired to Kells. Jennie died in 1987 and Jim in 2000.

Eugene married Florence Doyle from Dublin in 1934 and they produced Patrick
(1937), Laurence (1941), Eugene (1943), Mary (1945) and Brendan (1949). Their details
are outlined in Table 3, page 39.

Carlanstown Family

G9 Peter (1863) and his son G10 William (1893), farmed in Trohanny at first but moved
to a farm in Carlanstown in the 1940s. Peter's son, G10 Paddy, moved to a farm in
Newcastle and his third son, G10 Peter, remained in Trohanny. G9 Peter’s daughter, Katie,
married Mick Hilliard and his other daughter, Mary, married Frank Byrne (Table 4).

Rathbane Family

This was the earliest other known branch in the family. It occurred in generation 8,
with ‘Big Peter’ (1834) producing a son, G9 Joseph, and two daughters, Brigid and
Mary. Brigid married John McCormack and Mary married an O’Brien. Joseph went on
to sire a large family which, together with the next generation, are summarised in
Table 7, page 48. Some oral history for this branch is provided in Annex R1.

Current Generations

The current Generation 11 families are widely spread and are descended from:

[1 Eugene McMahon’s Family — shown in Table 8, page 50 (detail in Annex M).

(1 William McMahon’s Family — shown in Table 9, page 52 (detail in Annex N).

[J Joseph Jr. McMahon’s Family — shown in Table 11, page 55 (detail in Annex O)

[] Katie (McMahon) Hilliard’s family — 11 children in Gen.11

[1 Magee family — Mary (McMahon) Magee had 8 children in Generation 10 and 10
known grandchildren in Generation 11.

[1 Smith Family — Brigid (McMahon) Smith had 7 children in Gen.10 and 5 known
grandchildren in Generation 11.
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Annexes

Written Records

One of the main problems with this analysis
was the absence of crucial parish records.
This was primarily due to the repression of
the Catholic Church in the 18th century. It was
only towards the latter part of that century
that church buildings and established clergy at
the parish level became the norm.

Table Al shows the dates for which
records were available in the relevant parishes.
Other missing data is from the four censuses,
1861, 1871, 1881, 1891 which were destroyed
by government order.

Generation Mapping

The frequent use of a limited number of
common Christian names and the absence of
a second Christian name, made it very difficult
to attribute some offspring to particular
families. As an aid to minimise this type of
confusion, the time period covered was
arbitrarily divided into generations. These
generation intervals were either 30 or 40
years, the particular interval chosen being the
one that best fitted the ancestral data. Table
A2 shows the scheme adopted. G1 to G13 are
used as labels throughout the text to indicate
the generation being described. This
nomenclature is intended as a convenience in

For Births
and Deaths

Moynalty
Kilbeg

Nobber
Kildalky

Kells
Drumconrath
Navan

From

1830

1817

with a gap 1852-1858
1764

1785

1792

1811

1782

Table A1: Earliest Parish Records

Generation

G
G2
G3
G4
Gs
G6
G7
G8
Go
G10
Gn
G12
G13

Years

1610 To 1639
1640 To 1669
1670 To 1699
1700 To 1729
1730 To 1759
1760 To 1789
1790 To 1819
1820 To 1849
1850 To 1889
1890 To 1929
1930 To 1959
1960 To 1989
1990 To 2020

Table A2: Generations used
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A3

referring to people who are obviously in different generations; it is calibrated around
our most recent known family members. Thirty years is the usual interval that
biologists use but there were exceptions.‘u It is inevitable that some offspring in the
larger families will stray across the line; these were placed in the generation where the
majority of their siblings were found.

The Database

The bulk of records used in this analysis were supplied by Meath Heritage Centre. In
all there were 525 total births listed for MacMahon in Co. Meath. This listing was
compiled from all existing parish records in Meath up to 1900. A subset of this listing
was entered into an Excel database for use in this study.

Following the cluster analysis (Annex B2), and the earlier work (Ref. 1), it was
established that there were no known family links beyond the Moynalty/Kilbeg/
Nobber cluster. Consequently, it was the data from these and some adjacent parishes,
supplemented by Mormon data, which were used in the working database.

The data could be sorted by any of the column headings; the particular example
shown in Appendix 1 to Annex A was sorted by Generation and by Family
association. A number was assigned (in the order in which they were discovered) to
obvious family groupings (i.e. where more than one child was attributed to the same
parents). No numbers were assigned to singletons.

4% It was observed that in generations 9 & 10, the main ancestors were 30+ before they sired offspring; consequently these

two generations were defined as 40 years.

68



Annex A: Records

Appendix 1to Annex A

Table A3: Spreadsheet of McMahon Births in Meath, 1706-1900

Data sorted by generation and family association, known/presumed family members in bold

Generation  Year Birth Name  Father Mother Townland Parish Family
3 1680 John* Unknown Unknown Kilskyre LDS
4 1706 Peter** John + Mary Reilly Kilskyre 46
4 1708 Thomas™* John + Mary Reilly Kilskyre 46
5 1735 Michael*** Unknown Unknown Ardamagh Nobber
5 1735 Roger # Unknown Unknown Monaghan?

5 1740 Manus™* Unknown Unknown College Nobber

5 1750 Patrick*** Unknown Unknown Clocmacoo Nobber

6 1762 Bridget Manus+ Anne Ward Nobber 1
6 1764 Mary Manus+ Anne Ward College Nobber 1
6 1769 Anne Manus+ Anne Ward College Nobber 1
6 1765 James Michael + Catherine Carolan Nobber 2
6 1774 Margaret Michael+ Catherine Ardamagh Nobber 2
6 1785 James James + Mary Cruisetown Nobber 3
6 1788 John James + Mary Cruisetown Nobber 3
6 1788 Terence Patrick+ Mary Devine Sarahstown Clonmellon 50
6 1768 William# Unknown Unknown Monaghan?

6 1764 Catherine Patrick + Frances Plunkett Nobber

6 1774 Jane Patrick+ Jane Ardamagh Nobber

6 1781 Bridget Patrick+ Anne Lynch Nobber

6 1781 James Patrick+ Margaret Clocmacoo Nobber

7 1811 Peter Patrick+ Margaret Fairchild  Kells 4

7 1813 Thomas Patrick+ Margaret Fairchild ~ Kells 4

7 1817 Bridget Patrick+ Margaret Fairchild  Kells 4

7 1797 James Bernard+ Bridget Maron Kildalkey 5
7 1799 Thomas Bernard+ Bridget Maron Kildalkey 5
7 1814 Catherine Bernard+ Bridget Maron Kildalkey 5
7 1817 Bernard Bernard+ Bridget Maron Kildalkey 5
7 1819 William James+ Anne Cahil Kilbeg 6
7 1798 Owen Hugh + Judith Reilly Kilskyre 47
7 1800 Thomas Hugh + Judith Reilly Kilskyre 47
7 1801 Peter Hugh + Judith Reilly Kilskyre 47
7 1809 Hugh John + Bridget Gilshenan Kilskyre 48
7 1815 Patrick John + Bridget Gilshenan Kilskyre 48
7 1809 Anne Thomas + Bridget Boylan Kilskyre 49

*

Earliest recorded McMahon - not a birth record but deduced from marriage date of 1704. Married 1704 to Mary Reilly.
Confirmation date 1709. Date of birth estimated from presumed parents 1704 marriage.
***  Existed but dates deduced.

#  Date of birth estimated from age fit model. Assumed our direct ancestor who possibly migrated from Monaghan.

*k
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Generation

00 00 00 0O 00O 00 OO0 00 00 00 0 00 00 00 00 0 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 W0 N ~N N N N N 9 N N

Year

1818
1790
1810
1795
1797

1799
1802

1805
1792
1814

1829
1830
1831

1823
1834
1829
1843
1848
1836
1842
1837
1840
1837
1839
1841

1845
1848
1843
1847
1849
1833
1843
1845
1836
1842
1844
1846
1832
1846
1834

Birth Name

John
Bridget
Robert?
Catherine
James*
Peter+
Thomas+
John+
Anne
Mary
Patrick
Hugh
Margaret
John
Peter
Michael
Anne
Thomas
Laurence
Philip
Hugh
Margaret
Laurence
Bryan
Margaret
Thomas
Rose
Philip
Margaret
Mary
James
Roger
Thomas
Patrick
Mary
Bridget
John
Laurence
James

Owen

Father

Thomas +

Patrick+

John+
William+
William+
William+
William+
Bryan+
Patrick+
Patrick+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James+
Edward+
Edward+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James+
Hugh+
Hugh+
Hugh+
John+
John+
John+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James +
James+

Joseph +

Mother

Bridget Boylan
Mary Devine

Bridget Farrell
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown

Mary

Margaret
Margaret Fairchild
Anne

Anne

Rose Cooney
Catherine Daly
Catherine
Catherine
Catherine Farrelly
Bridget Colerick
Bridget Colerick
Catherine Garrigan
Catherine Garrigan
Catherine Haulton
Catherine Haulton
Catherine Haulton
Catherine Haulton
Catherine Haulton
Eleanor Clarke
Eleanor Clarke
Eleanor Clarke
Mary

Mary

Mary

Mary Reilly

Mary Reilly

Mary Reilly

Mary Reilly

Rose Clarke

Rose Clarke
Bridget Gargin

Townland

Newtown

Moate
Moate
Moate
Moate

Clocmacoo

Rath
Rath
Rath

Carrigagh

Parish Family
Kilskyre 49
Clonmellon 50
Clonmellon

Kilbeg

Kilbeg

Kilbeg

Kilbeg

Nobber

Nobber

Kells 4
Castletown Kilpatrick 6
Castletown Kilpatrick 6
Kilbeg 6
Kilbeg 6
Nobber 7
Nobber 7
Nobber 7
Moynalty 10
Moynalty 10
Moynalty n
Moynalty n
Moynalty 12
Moynalty 12
Moynalty 12
Moynalty 12
Moynalty 12
Moynalty 13
Moynalty 13
Moynalty 13
Moynalty 14
Moynalty 14
Moynalty 14
Moynalty 15
Moynalty 15
Moynalty 15
Moynalty 15
Moynalty 18
Moynalty 18
Moynalty 21

*

Date of birth estimated from age fit model; our direct ancestor.

+  Date of birth estimated from age fit model. Assumed brother of James.
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Generation  Year Birth Name  Father Mother Townland Parish Family
8 1836 Joseph Joseph + Bridget Gargin Moynalty 21
8 1840 Peter Joseph + Bridget Gargin Moynalty 21
8 1832 Patrick Michael + Margaret Clinton Moynalty 24
8 1834 John Michael + Margaret Clinton Moynalty 24
8 1838 Michael Michael + Margaret Clinton Moynalty 24
8 1837 Patrick Michael + Mary Colerick Moynalty 25
8 1840 Elizabeth Michael + Mary Colerick Moynalty 25
8 1843 Anne Michael + Catherine Tully Moynalty 27
8 1843 James Michael + Catherine Tully Moynalty 27
8 1847 Catherine Michael + Catherine Tully Moynalty 27
8 1842 James Oliver + Frances Howe Moynalty 28
8 1845 Margaret Oliver + Frances Howe Moynalty 28
8 1842 Bridget Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
8 1843 Philip Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
8 1845 James Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
8 1846 Owen Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
8 1848 Catherine Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
8 1836 Philip Patrick+ Bridget Williams Moynalty 34
8 1839 Bridget Patrick+ Bridget Williams Moynalty 34
8 1841 Michael Patrick+ Bridget Williams Moynalty 34
6 1845 George Patrick+ Bridget Williams Moynalty 34
8 1846 Margaret Patrick+ Bridget Williams Moynalty 34
8 1848 John Peter+ Mary Murtha Moynalty 36
8 1838 Mary Peter + Catherine Reilly Moynalty 37
8 1846 John Peter + Catherine Reilly Moynalty 37
8 1849 Catherine Peter + Catherine Reilly Moynalty 37
8 1830 Michael Peter + Catherine White Moynalty 38
8 1833 Francis Peter + Catherine White Moynalty 38
8 1821 William John + Bridget Gilshenan Kilskyre 48
8 1830 Anne Thomas+ Elizabeth Barnwell  Archerstown  Clonmellon 51
8 1832 John Thomas+ Elizabeth Barnwell ~ Archerstown  Clonmellon 51
8 1834 Bridget Thomas+ Elizabeth Barnwell  Archerstown  Clonmellon 51
8 1836 Patrick Thomas+ Elizabeth Barnwell  Archerstown  Clonmellon 51
8 1840 Thomas Thomas+ Elizabeth Barnwell  Archerstown  Clonmellon 51
8 1844 Christopher  Thomas+ Elizabeth Barnwell  Archerstown  Clonmellon 51
8 1846 Elizabeth Thomas+ Elizabeth Barnwell  Archerstown  Clonmellon 51
8 1846 James Daniel+ Bridget Anderson Clonmellon
8 1834 Christopher  James+ Mary Smyth Gehanstown  Clonmellon
8 1824 Michael John+ Mary Callaghan Clonmellon Clonmellon
8 1846 Thomas Thomas+ Anne Reilly Kinahan Clonmellon
8 1829 Bridget Thomas+ Mary Flood Kilbeg

Data sorted by generation and family association, known/presumed family members in bold
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Generation  Year

1834
1823

1831
1832
1832
1833
1838
1838
1839
1842
1843
1843

1845
1824

1851

1858
1860
1862
1864
1866
1875
1878
1884
1895
1898
1899
1850
1853

1856
1859
1861

1864
1888
1889
1892
1896
1898
1871

1874

1875
1878

O VW VW VW VW VOV VW VWV VWV VW VWV VU VL VW LV VOV VWV LV LV VW LWV W LWV W LV WO WO 0 0 0 O 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 o

Birth Name

Andrew
William
Patrick
Peter
Michael
Hugh
Edward
Michael
Patrick
Patrick
Owen
Philip
Bernard
Patrick
Catherine
John
Bridget
Anne
James
Eugene
Elizabeth
Mary
Catherine
Anne
Thomas
Patrick
Eleanor
Robert
Patrick
Catherine
Michael
John
Anne
Patrick
Eleanor
Catherine
Eugene
Mary Anne
Michael
Patrick
James

Father

Robert+
Thomas+
Patrick+
John+
Peter +
Bernard+
Bernard+
Michael +
William +
John+
Owen +
Philip +
John +
James+
James+
Michael+
Michael+
Michael+
Michael+
Michael+
Michael+
Michael+
Michael+
Thomas+
Thomas+
Thomas+
James+
James+
John+
John+
John+
John+
James+
James+
James+
James+
James+
Joseph +
Joseph +
Joseph +
Joseph +

Mother

Anne Smyth
Catherine Farrelly
Catherine Kangley
Mary Malone
Anne Cleary
Judith Mulligan
Bridget ill.
Catherine Mathews
Rose Clarke
Anne Gauran
Mary Shaffry
Elizabeth

Anne Govern
Jane

Catherine Farrelly
Elizabeth Lamb
Elizabeth Lamb
Elizabeth Lamb
Elizabeth Lamb
Elizabeth Lamb
Elizabeth Lamb
Elizabeth Lamb
Elizabeth Lamb
Alice Burns
Alice Burns
Alice Burns
Mary Reilly
Mary Reilly
Mary Finegan
Mary Finegan
Mary Finegan
Mary Finegan
Mary Reilly
Mary Reilly
Mary Reilly
Mary Reilly
Mary Reilly
Mary Clarke
Mary Clarke
Mary Clarke
Mary Clarke

Townland

Rath
Rath

Muff

Muff

Muff

Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber

Leitrim
Leitrim
Leitrim
Leitrim

Leitrim

Data sorted by generation and family association, known/presumed family members in bold

Parish

Kilbeg
Kilskyre
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Nobber
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty

Family

O W W 0 00 0 0 0 o 00 oo
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Generation  Year Birth Name Father Mother Townland Parish Family
9 1881 Patrick Joseph + Mary Clarke Maio Moynalty 19
9 1883 Catherine Joseph + Rose Daly Cormeen Moynalty 20
9 1885 Peter Joseph + Rose Daly Leitrim Moynalty 20
9 1887 Bernard Joseph + Rose Daly Leitrim Moynalty 20
9 1889 Anne Joseph + Rose Daly Moynalty 20
9 1893 Mary Agnes  Joseph + Rose Daly Leitrim Moynalty 20
9 1896 Joseph Joseph + Rose Daly Leitrim Moynalty 20
9 1865 Rose Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Moynalty 22
9 1866 Michael Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Moynalty 22
9 1867 John Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Moynalty 22
9 1870 Patrick Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Moynalty 22
9 1872 Margaret Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Moynalty 22
9 1874 Peter Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Moynalty 22
9 1876 Thomas Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Moynalty 22
9 1880 Mary Joseph + Bridget MacCormick Maio Moynalty 22
9 1865 John Laurence +  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1866 James Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1868 Patrick Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1869 Mary Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1870 Hugh Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1872 Bridget Laurence +  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1874 n/r Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1876 Patrick Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1877 Anne Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1879 Bernard Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1881 Laurence Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Carrigagh Moynalty 23
9 1883 Rose Laurence +  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1884 Joseph Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Carrigagh Moynalty 23
9 1888 Philip Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Moynalty 23
9 1890 Eleanor Laurence+  Bridget Dolan Carrigagh Moynalty 23
9 1889 Mary Michael + Elizabeth Cole Moynalty 26
9 1891 John Michael + Elizabeth Cole Moynalty 26
9 1894 Catherine Michael + Elizabeth Cole Rosemount Moynalty 26
9 1878 Michael Owen + Rose Inglesby Moynalty 29
9 1881 James Owen + Rose Englishby Maio Moynalty 29
9 1884 Thomas Owen + Rose Englishby Feagh Moynalty 29
9 1886 Owen Owen + Rose Englishby Moynalty 29
9 1889 Philip Owen + Rose Englishby Moynalty 29
9 1891 Edward Owen + Rose Englishby Feagh Moynalty 29
9 1863 Mary Owen + Judith Tully Moynalty 30
9 1865 Catherine Owen + Judith Tully Moynalty 30

Data sorted by generation and family association, known/presumed family members in bold
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Generation  Year Birth Name  Father Mother Townland Parish Family
9 1869 Michael Owen + Judith Tully Moynalty 30
9 1874 Mary Patrick+ Catherine Geherty Moynalty 32
9 1876 Owen Patrick+ Catherine Geherty Moynalty 32
9 1880 Bridget Patrick+ Catherine Geherty Moynalty 32
9 1882 Catherine Patrick+ Catherine Geherty ~ Druminiskin ~ Moynalty 32
9 1886 Elizabeth Patrick+ Catherine Geherty ~ Druminiskin ~ Moynalty 32
9 1889 Joseph Patrick+ Catherine Geherty Moynalty 32
9 1891 Rose Patrick+ Catherine Geherty ~ Druminiskin ~ Moynalty 32
9 1893 Patrick Patrick+ Catherine Geherty Moynalty 32
9 1896 Anne Patrick+ Catherine Geherty ~ Druminiskin ~ Moynalty 32
9 1850 Anne Patrick+ Anne Reilly Cormeen Moynalty 33
9 1852 Eleanor Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
9 1854 Rose Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
9 1856 Patrick Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
9 1861 Mary Patrick+ Anne Reilly Moynalty 33
9 1889 Mary Peter+ Mary Lynch Maio Moynalty 35
9 1891 Jane Peter+ Mary Lynch Moynalty 35
9 1893 William Peter+ Mary Lynch Maio Moynalty 35
9 1895 Edward Peter+ Mary Lynch Maio Moynalty 35
9 1898 Patrick Peter+ Mary Lynch Maio Moynalty 35
9 1850 Margaret Peter+ Mary Murthagh Moynalty 36
9 1850 William Peter + Catherine Reilly Rathbawn Moynalty 37
9 1853 Thomas Peter + Catherine Reilly Moynalty 37
9 1856 Philip Peter + Catherine Reilly Moynalty 37
9 1852 Bridget Peter + Catherine White Moynalty 38
9 1858 Mary Philip + Mary Halton Moynalty 39
9 1860 Eugene Philip + Mary Halton Moynalty 39
9 1863 Elizabeth Philip + Mary Halton Moynalty 39
9 1865 Michael Philip + Mary Halton Moynalty 39
9 1867 Bridget Philip + Mary Halton Moynalty 39
9 1870 Joesph Philip + Mary Halton Moynalty 39
9 1878 Philip Philip + Mary Halton Moynalty 39
9 1865 Laurence Richard + Frances Farrelly Moynalty 40
9 1867 Mary Anne  Richard + Frances Farrelly Moynalty 40
9 1870 Thomas Richard + Frances Farrelly Moynalty 40
9 1872 Charles Richard + Frances Farrelly Moynalty 40
9 1874 Mathew Richard + Frances Farrelly Moynalty 40
9 1875 Francesca Richard + Frances Farrelly Moynalty 40
9 1878 Michael Richard + Frances Farrelly Moynalty 40
9 1881 Richard Richard + Frances Farrelly Petersville Moynalty 40
9 1888 James Robert + Margaret Sheridan Moynalty 41

Data sorted by generation and family association, known/presumed family members in bold
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Generation
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Year

1888
1890
1892
1890
1891
1857

1859
1861

1863
1867
1877
1879
1851

1854
1856
1859
1863
1865
1868
1850
1868
1879
1880
1886
1900
1900

1900

Birth Name

Mary
Thomas
Bryan
Mary Anne
Catherine
John
Elizabeth
Peter
Sarah
Thomas
James
n/r
Bridget
Mary
Jane
John
Peter
James
Patrick
Catherine
Mary
Patrick
John
Thomas
Hugh
Philip

Julia

Father

Robert +
Robert +
Robert +
Ross +
Ross +
Thomas +
Thomas +
Thomas +
Thomas +
Thomas +
Thomas +
Thomas +
William+
William+
William+
William+
William+
William+
William+
James+
Peter+
ill+
Peter+
Thomas +
Thomas+
James+

Patrick+

Mother

Margaret Sheridan
Margaret Sheridan
Margaret Sheridan
Anne Lynch

Anne Lynch

Mary Carolan
Mary Carolan
Mary Carolan
Mary Carolan
Mary Carolan
Catherine Lynch
Catherine Lynch
Jane Monaghan
Jane Monaghan
Jane Monaghan
Jane Monaghan
Jane Monaghan
Jane Monaghan
Jane Monaghan
Mary Dowd
Elizabeth Martin
Rose Inglesby
Bridget Daly
Bridget Dolan
Alice Burns

Mary Reilly

Mary Byrne

Townland

Cormeen

Bawn

Gehanstown

Carrigagh
Nobber
Leitrim
Nobber

Data sorted by generation and family association, known/presumed family members in bold

Table A3: Spreadsheet of McMahon Births in Meath, 1706-1900

Parish

Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Clonmellon
Kilbeg
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Nobber
Moynalty
Nobber

43
44
44
45

45
45
45
45
45

17
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B.1

Models

Age Fit model

This is a small feasibility model in Excel (Figure B1 page 79). Its purpose is to link
known data with earlier generations (for whom there was no birth data) and deduce
possible ranges for dates of birth and likely age ranges for when they produced sons.
The only assumption necessary when running the model, and this only applied to
generations 0 to 5, was that a generation was 32 years.45

The aim of the model is to produce consistency and balance through the
generations and avoid showing nonsense such as ancestors producing children at 12
years of age. This balance is achieved by varying the four inputs (shown in yellow)
until the figures made sense.

The model starts with two inputs (can be varied) which are reasonable ages for G7
James fathering his youngest son, G8 Peter in 1834. The values shown in the
particular snapshot in Appendix 1 to Annex B are 35 to 39. This produced the
reasonable age range of 20-24 for when he fathered his eldest, G8 William. The out-
put from the model at this level was that the average date of birth was 1797 for G7
James. All dates and ages are then related automatically backward, with ranges given
to cover uncertainty.

The only date pertaining to G6 William was the Tithe record of 1828. The
remaining two inputs were guesstimates of his age in 1828. Different values were tried
until the model balanced. All inputs were varied until the fathering ranges for G6
William and his son James were in fecund years. For inputs of 55 to 65 years of age
in 1828, the output was that the average date of birth of 1768 for G6 William
(Appendix 1 to Annex B). Roger was treated in two ways, either belonging to G6 or
G5. If in G6, the model predicts he would have been between 40-50 in 1813, the date
of the tomb inscription, which may have been the year of his death. If, as seems more

43 This value was not critical, it simply gave the best fit of the first five generations to that shown in Figure B 1.
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B.2

plausible, he was in G5 (and probably the father of G6 William), the model indicates
that his approximate date of birth was 1736 and he would have been between 72 and
82 years old in 1813, presumably the year of his death.

The final use made of the model was to match candidate Rogers (from Monaghan)
to the earlier generations. The Roger from Magheracloone matched our G5 Roger well
and could have been the same person.

The Roger (from Dartrey), who was recorded in the Hearth Rolls in 1665 and
presumably would have been born circa 1615-1635, would fit our G1 band (Ch 4.4).

Alternatively, the Roger from Enagh in Dartrey would have been born circa 1690,
and would fit our G3 band. (His nephew, Hugh circa 1704?, would fit our G4 band).
Given the above assumptions, and regardless of which of the two Dartrey Rogers we
select, the model of the known data and suggested ancestors fit together very nicely
and are supported by the family burials in Robertstown over the generations.

Cluster Analysis

The birth records for MacMahon in Meath were supplied by Meath Heritage Centre

(MHC) and consisted of 525 entries sorted by parish and occasionally by townland. All

of the dates were the earliest records to survive in each parish up to 1900. Parishes

for which there were birth records are shown in Table B1. Parishes not listed had no

records.

Cluster 1  Could represent a migratory route into the surviving Athboy/Kells cluster.

Cluster 2 Moynalty/Nobber - the largest with possible migration through Kilbeg/
Castletown-Kilpatrick.

Cluster 3  Large and persistent—could be part of even larger one in Louth/Monaghan.

Cluster 4  Navan.

Cluster 5 St Mary’s Drogheda and surrounding parts of Louth.

Cluster 6 Not a real cluster as most are transient or small in number and probably
represents a migratory route going further south.

Examining the Moynalty/Nobber cluster further (Cluster 2), produced the distribution
shown in Table B2. The data was sorted by family groupings of McMahons found in
each of the parishes for each generation. The results showed that the majority of
families were to be found in Moynalty for generations 8 and 9 (1820-1889) and very
few were found in the adjacent parishes.

Because of the missing data, it wasn't possible to establish if the Moynalty
population had developed from previous generations (by subdivision of tenancies for
example) or had suddenly appeared there as a consequence of opening up the land
to new tenancies. During this period there would likely not have been much free
movement of people, but rather it would have been largely dictated by landlords and
their agents. This could account for the rather skewed data shown in Table B2.

77



The McMahons of Trohanny

Parish Earliest Record LatestRecord Number of Births Status* Cluster**
Athboy 1796 1900 20 1
Beaupark 1822 1862 2 T 4
Castletown-Kilpatrick 1830 1831 2 T 2
Clonmellon 1788 1850 15 T 1
Donore 1877 1 T 4
Drumconrath 181 1900 66 3
Dunboyne 1804 1839 12 T 6
Dunderry 1838 1841 2 1
Dunsany 1838 1 T 6
Kells 1792 1900 65 1
Kilbeg 1819 1868 6 T 2
Kildalkey 1785 1877 21 T 1
Kilmessan 1742 1761 7 T 6
Kilskyre 1798 1821 T 1
Monalvy 1817 1 T 6
Moynalty 1830 1900 191 2
Navan 1782 1899 23 4
Nobber 1764 1899 30 2
Oldcastle 1789 1847 23 T 1
Rathmolyon 1881 1886 4 6
Rathoath 1861 1897 9 6
St Mary's Drog 1836 1894 15 5
Summerhill 1859 1 T 6
Total 525

Table B1: Distribution by Townland of Birth Records

*

If no record after 1870 (1 Gen below 1900) then cluster classified as transient (T) and usually extinct by 1900.

*k

Possible clusters around the densest populations.

Parish Generation 4 5 6 7 8 9
Kilskyre 1 3 ()
Nobber 1 4 1+(1) 2+(1)
Castletown 1
Kilbeg 1 1+(1) (1)
Moynalty 17+(11) 21+(3)
= Generations for which no data was available. () = Singletons.

Table B2: Distribution of cluster 2 Family groupings by Parish and generation
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Appendix 1 to Annex B

GENERATION
o Loughlin of Inniskeen approximate
d.o.b 1576
1 Generation = Agein 57 Patric of Kednaminsha approximate
32 Taxpayer Date 1665 Essex's bailiff d.o.b1608
2 Age in 25 Ardle of Drumagrella agpr%xiénate
Taxpayer Date 1665 ? :0.01640
approximate
3 Roger's Gd Father  d.o.b 1672
Approximate age —» 32
at fathering
4 Arrival from Monaghan 17172 Roger's Father  approximate
d.o.b 1704
Approximate age —» 32
If Roger was William’s father at fathering
5 Roger Roger approximate
Roger’s Roger’s if he died 1813 d.o.b1736
age range at death d.o.b. range
72 to 82 1731 to 1741 Age range 27
If Roger and William were brothers at fathering_> to
6 Roger William 37
Roger's Roger's if he died 1813 William’s
age range at death d.o.b. range d.ob.range
40to50 1763 to 1773 12(63
0
773
7 Peter Thomas  John
Age range 22
at fathering tg
James James 3
m. R. Coony m. A.Cahile ) ,
ames’s
d.o.b.range
Age range at 24 Age range at 31 Agerangeat 20 1795
fathering —» to fathering —» to fathering 3 to to
John 28 Hugh 35 William 24 1799
8 John Hugh William
d.o.b’s. fixed by records 1823 1830 1819
m. J. Monaghan
9 Peter John Patrick James
d.o.b’s. fixed by records 1863 1859 1886 1865
William’s age at fathering 44 40 49 46
m. M. Farrelly d.1927
10 Eugene
1904

Figure B1: Alternative Lines of Descent.

Agerangeat 32

Outputs Candidates

Dartry Roger
circa 1635 or earlier

(Ref Sec 9)

Magheracloone Roger

circa 1735
(Ref Sec 9)

William’s
average d.o.b.
1768

5
Guess William’s age in 1828 —»to
(Tithe Record) 65

James’s
average d.o.b.
1797 James’s
m. C.Daly

Age range at 35

fathering—3»to  fathering—3to
Margaret 36 Peter 39
Margaret Peter
1831 1834
Mary Brigid Jane
1854 1851 1856
35 32 37
Variable
Imputs
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Cia

C.2

Robertstown

Robertstown townland is in

the Parish of Kilbeg, 5 Km

to the west of Nobber 4 ¥ 8 A 2
Village and bordered by . . |
the townlands of Moate,
Ballintillin and Cruicetown.
Today the most notable
feature is the ruined fort-
ified house at Robertstown
Crossroads  (Figure 3,
Chapter 4.2, page 15) and
from the family’s point of :
view, the nearby cemetery. Figure C1: Robertstown Castle

Castle

The fortified house is known as Robertstown Castle, grid reference (N53.80128°
W6.80881°). This early-17th century house was three storeys high with attics. There
were projecting turrets carried on corbels at the SW and NE corners. They are very
similar to those found on Scottish castles. They have very fine small keyhole-shaped
defensive loops. Another wing was added at a later date. The ground floor was a series
of vaulted rooms and the first floor was divided into three rooms. This may have
belonged to either the Plunkett or the Barnewall families.

Cemetery

Robertstown Cemetery is situated at grid reference (N53.80338° W6.80591°), about 300
metres north of Robertstown Castle; it is about 2-3 km from the townlands of Moate,
Ballintillan and Ardmaghbreague. It is a small cemetery of about two acres and is used
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to this day by several families.
It is reasonable to assume that
in the 17th century it was
associated with the Castle,
then possibly occupied by the
Barnwall and/or Plunkett
families at different periods.
Now that the vegetation has
been cut back, it is possible
to see the outline of a small
ruined chapel which could
have been the Castle’s Private
Chapel. The McMahon plots
are inside this ruin at its north
end. The slab tombs (Figure
C2 and Figure C3) could have
been vaults inside the chapel
(the caretaker said they were
connected underground!).

The family must have had
influence at some stage in
order to grab these prime
locations. 1, (PM) remember
seeing the two slab graves
when the Grandparents (G9)
were buried (1952 and ‘53);
one was the Roger one, and |
am sure the other one was an
even older Plunket stone
(they were nearly at ground
level, horizontal and legible
then but are no longer).

Given G5 Roger’s claim to
the site on behalf of his pos-
terity, we must assume that
he himself and at least some
of his G6 sons were buried
somewhere in the immediate
vicinity.

I, (PM) was certainly given

S R e N N |
Figure C2: Barnwall/1813 Roger’s Slab Tomb shown on the left and
Gn Peter, to the right.

1 = 1. o 3 - | i N .II':.I. -.ﬂr‘: e

Figure C4: Gg & G1o Trohanny McMahons to the left and Gio
Carlanstown McMahons to the right. (Slab tombs are
to right of path).
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The McMahons of Trohanny

Figure C5: This is the only visual evidence of repossession of the Barnwall tomb.

Above, the inscriptions on the Barnwall/McMahon Slab Tomb. ‘Rog.’ = > - .
is just discernable on the right hand side (above right) and ‘1813’ is % - ¢ -
legible (inset) on the stone. PR - e e -

the impression (in 1951-52) that the plots contained the remains of earlier McMahon
generations - old plots were certainly re-used for the grandparents’ burials (I remem-
ber old bones coming up when they were opening the graves). | also seem to recall
being shown (American) G9 James's plot.

There was enough space in the McMahon plot to allow about 100 years (2-3
generations) before re-use of the plots. It was a very selective burial place shared with
a number of other local families.” As for the McMahons, only descendents of G7 James
(and possibly James himself), i.e G8 William (documented) and later generations, used
it. 1 don't recall ever hearing whether or not Rathbawn Joe or G8 Tommy’s descen-
dents were buried there.

Figure C6 shows a very old headstone
adjacent to where G10 Jennie is buried. It is
very badly encrusted and the most | (PM)
could make out was possibly ‘Elizabeth
...aged 29'. Assuming this is a McMahon
grave, then there were three possible
contenders in G9 (none in G10 or G11). In
descending order of relationship, these
were:

1 Elizabeth born to Thomas and Mary (nee

Carolan) in 1859 in Moynalty,

2 Elizabeth born to Michael and Elizabeth
3= | : - (nee Lamb) in 1875 in Nobber,
P " T Rk, (] 3 Elizabeth born to Patrick and Catherine

Figure C6: Stone to left of Gg McMah . .
lgure one fo et of fag HcHlahons (nee Geherty) in 1886 in Druminiskin,
with ‘ELIZ (?) aged 29’
Moynalty.

44 It is certainly in use today by many families, judging by the number of modern headstones.
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G3 and Later McMahons in Kilbeg/Kilskyre

Mapping of known and proposed interrelationships for the Kilbeg/Kilskyre McMahons
and later generations are shown in Figure D1. This shows Thomas McMahon/Mary
Carolan producing five children. G8 Thomas could have been a brother, or even a G7
uncle, of G8 William.
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The McMahons of Trohanny

GENERATION 670 . . .
17 Figure D1: Possible Linkage of
A G3& Gg with Later K|Ibeg/K|Iskyre John Working back from the Kilbeg record,
1 R circa 1680 his birth would have been 1680 or
i Generations earlier.
3 1
i John + Record found in LDS microfilm for
Y Mary Reilly % (ilbeg but the marriage record was
1699 m. 1704 possibly for Kilskyre parish.
17Aoo e CE
' Confirmation
4 il Peter records found Thomas
i circa 1706 for Thomas circa 1708
Y 1 and Peter 1
1729 * in 1709. *
17A3° No birth or i ded but then h From Magheracloone? Tombstone inscribed in 1813.
0 Irld P?r 'Ssgje recorbef u er:j € Roger (Tombstone) ~€—— No issue recorded or siblings.
| WIBtite] RS D= 412) ETEIEIAS (KRt s circa1736 He would have been about 77.
5 I beganTithe payer in 1828
1
v il Ellll kel el e r==---1
759 ¥ & ¥ ¥
1760 \j A \j \J \J
William (Tithe) Moate, Kilbeg Unknown Rev. Peter Unknown
; i circa 1761
I circa 1768 (in 1828) Unrecorded No records before Ordaine7d by
6 i . progeny 1817 for Kilbeg and Dr. Plunket
Unrecorded progeny in Kilbeg in Kilbeg <€~ a gap between - - )
' . or 1852-1858. 7
William+ Unknown
1789 1 l
1790 : 2 John
G = Listed in === 1797 G ? Peter Moate, Ki\begA_ Running Moate Farm + two lots of land at
i Ffith’ F---3 1799 G?James*  Moate, Kilbeg \\ Ardabragh and Ballintillin in 1854. No recorded
ari 't, s k- - =3 1802 Thomas Moate, Kilbeg N progeny. Lost Moate farm on his death?
7 1 Valuation -
i p b - = =3 1805 John (G)j 1 Moate, Kilbeg \
‘ or 1855- L - - -3 1507 Roger™* j 1 Moate,Kilbeg John + No issue recorded. Only record of a
819 Th -——-—" - rJ Mary Roger birth. Was he the boxer?
181 omas + -
1 S
820 Mary Carolan,
1A N)\/o alt * Was it this John who 1833 James = P
YI y To moved to Trohanny and 1834 Roger — Azgriocu:r(g)lao;
8 1 or Trohanny? Ntook on I\/\?gyfam;]?_ 1845 Thomas who had son
. o progeny? Brough in )
1 Generation 8 Thomas + 1830 nephew William? John in18s57.
' Mary Carolan, Moynalty
Thomas +
1849 I Catherine Lynch
1850 1857 John
A 1859 Elizabeth 12% Jna/rrnI:;wn
9 1 1221 I;eterh r === Thomas + Bridget Dolan Moynalt);
1863 Sara 1 ;
v 1867 Thomas - - - -+ Carrigagh, Moynalty
1
1889 Thomas + & - 1886 Thomas
1890 Alice Burns
A Nobber
1895 Anne
10 ! 1900 Hugh
Y 1898 Thomas
1900 1899 Patrick
Key Records *  Favourite for G7 James on d.o.b

Black and solid lines = from records

- mm o = Kilbeg
Broken black lines = Nobb er
possible next generation descent; Kildalky
- mm e e Kells
Blue and broken Blue lines = Drumconrath
speculation andfilling-in missing links. Navan

Moynalty records date from 1830

from 1817 with a gap 1852-1858
from1764
from 1785
from 1792
from 18n
from 1782

and father William. Carrigagh or
Moynalty townlands in 1854.
Could be a Drake - before Kilbeg
records began.

*** Roger had to flee following fatal fight.
Or was it next generation Roger?
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Annex D: G3 and Later McMahons in Kilbeg/Kilskyre

GENERATION 1670  Figure D2: G3 & G4 with . . Working back from the Kilbeg record,
A Kilskyre McMahons Kllbeg/Kllskyl‘e John <« s birth would have been 1680 or
\ y circa 1680 earlier.
. . 1
5 ! Showing the Kilskyre |
! McMahons and their ] hl Record found in LDS microfilm for
] ohn + - :
descendants. " Kilbeg but the marriage record was
v Mary Reilly possibly for Kilskyre parish.
m. 1704
6
1699 1
1700 1
A r-----------J_________1
1 * Confirmation
i Peter records found Thomas
4 circa 1706 for Thomas circa 1708
! and Peter
n in1709.
1729
17A30
\ Unknown Unknown
circa 1740 circa 1750
1
1
5 i !
1 i |
1 1 1
Y Fm====- doeem- . I
1 1 1
1759 1 1 L
1760 \/ Y \
A Hugh Kilskyre John Kilskyre Thomas  Kilskyre
1 circa 1770 circa 1780 circa 1780
6 ] | | |
I I I
' i i i
i Hugh + John + Thomas +
v Judith Reilly Bridget Gilshenan Bridget Boylan
1789 I I
17A90 Kilskyre Kilskyre Kilskyre
i 1798 Owen 1809 Hugh === 1809 Anne
! 1800 Thomas == 1815 Patrick = == pm == = o= = - 1 1818 John
7 1801 Peter 1 1821 William™* 1 1
i 1 1
f ? ?
\J Thomas + Hugh + Patrick
1819 Catherine Farrelly Eleanor Clarke  Bridget Williams
1
1820
e L | ——- 1847 Margaret Moynalty
A 1823 William™ Kilskyre |y 1849 Mary  Carrigagh Moynalty
1 —> 1844 Philip Moynalty
8 1
1 —>» 1836 Philip Moynalty
1 —>1839 Bridget  Moynalty
3 1841 Michael Moynalty
v —» 1845 George  Moynalty
1849 —» 1846 Margaret Moynalty
Key Records

Black and solid lines = from records
e L L
Broken black lines =
possible next generation descent;

Blue and broken Blue lines =

speculation andfilling-in missing links.

Moynalty records date from 1830

Kilbeg from 1817 with a gap 1852-1858
Nobb er from 1764
Kildalky from 1785
Kells from 1792
Drumconrath from 181
Navan from 1782

*

Another candidate spouse

** Possible (young) spouse for Rose Clarke.
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The McMahons of Trohanny

Ea

E.2

G3 and Later McMahons in Nobber/Moynalty

G3 McMahons

(Nobber/Trohanny)
Mapping of the early
generations of the
Nobber and Trohanny

McMahons is shown
in Figure E1.
McMahons in
Moynalty

The Farrell Estate
Records for 1824 are
shown in Figure E2;

these were copied from
Ref. 14. These records
firmly place the Rev
Peter McMahon in
Rathbawn in 1824.
They also place a John
McMahon there who
could have been a
brother of Peter, or else
an unrelated McMahon:

the quarry in Moysalty wenland

Relily's of Reillyswsn ., ,
mmmummrﬂm AR
Thoomas Bomes |lunbor), Land ot Sefford ,.,..,.,..,.,..,
Loid Famham, Qumhll.ﬁ:lh.lhj :
Patrick Tinnelly, I'hcml.hi.lm“m .Llubul..d'
preser Orehard House . .
PalFick Tinsally, Lﬂiln“’ﬂ'ﬁlﬂh—nwh-“-:ﬂmmm
[ This may be a differeni P T
Reps. of 'William Barett, Land on which H-n'rqlr:f Hiomse and
lermyard ang now bl |
Fairick Kemmey, L—.ImHIDII:I.I.H!l'
LLand s Hathhewn amund sie ul'niﬂtll.lp:l
Pan of Waheriown
Rkeri Belle, Part of Walierstoown, inchading Waliersosn Hisse
Reaw, William Keflem, The (Flehe, and other lands in Skancassan .,
R‘T"#‘Dr-!mmllﬂlhmdm-.m
W slmrsmown and Moy oy
Willimm Bryan (ancesace of Mr H:H.;- ‘OrBrivn). Lands in
Juoskiii HIIHII[-:fHu-HI':.I:fmn SR IE
mﬂ'\l‘llll—Mlmﬂ'udHh—'n- I
Fr F. MchMalion, Lands @ Haihbsws |, L
John Mebahon, Rathhaws ..., om o neaisiinsssss

Mpsthew Keamey, Rathbawe [m.-lud... Luu!.:ub:]—l
Shancamman .. ... - 4
Hugh Fim, mlm-mﬂﬂnp
Juha Carlen, Shancemes .
Thesmes Kaarnay, Par of Walieestown | L

Jumed Smith, P!nd“'lhnmui-mdmm
Paukdy snd Peiey) |
A-phwlh}ur-id'ﬂi'lhumanmm!mudﬂmm
Andrew Cahill Wahsrsiown _, R
Charles Relly, Bmlﬂllhr:ul'lurhu] e M i
Rathmasce ., IR ok e i At a

a2
4
]
]

14
4

114
. 119

™
m
T
i3
E
E

7
|
45

k. 1}
£
14

L
1

18 1824 the new Isndlond wis |8 poesssiicon of an esimie that contained
2404 mansie acres, |63E Irish. The following i s listof his sensais o thal Gess
ingether with their acreage @ [rish meesure. 1t mus) ke rememhered that masl,
il mot. gll, of these Wil have had underenams of Sieir owen, 1 i3 also worth
reoting Ahat the pieviows cemer, Lord Pamhem, contiauerd in hold the eise of

Philig: $mith, Lasds in Moyealiy wah mIIl.h]:nlt:l-hmllH:-: E T 35

3 I0
1 20

Figure E2: Tenants of the Moynalty Farrell Estate 1824
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Annex

E: G3 and Later

GENERATION 670 .
17 Figure E1: Nobber McMahons and
A . . . Kilbeg/Kilskyre John Working back from the Kilbeg record,
1 possible relationship to circa 1680 his birth would have been 1680 or
| Trohanny McMahons carlier.
3 1
1 John + Record found in LDS microfilm for
Mary Reilly - Kilbeg but the marriage record was
v m. 1704 possibly for Kilskyre parish.
1699 H
1
1700
A *r_________l______
1
4 i Peter Thomas
i circa 1706 circa1708
| 1
1729 * *
1730
\ Patrick + Margaret Michael + Catherine Carolan
5 X circa 1750 Clocmacoo, Nobber circa 1735 Ardamagh, Nobber
' * Manus
v circa 1740 College, Nobber
1759 ?? Mary Manus + Anne Ward
'l
1760 James Margaret
A Y 1765 Ardamagh, Nobber 1774 1762 Bridget College, Nobber
X James* James + Mary 1764 Mary  College, Nobber
6 i 1781 1769 Anne  College, Nobber
I Clocmacoo, Nobber
\/ : John James**
1789 1 1788 1785 Cruisetown, Nobber
U . |
1790
7: * * Most likely
Died 22 March 1837 in a] Anne Cahile
7 i James + Mo s f_37 ! James + James + James“ +
Catherine Farrelly arianstown, CoOMiming e Apne Cahil Rose Cooney Anne
v James as a philanderer!
Rath, Nobber Unless there was divorce then. ‘ ‘ | I
1819
1820 > . William < John« Hugh  Margaret-
A 1329 mEZael 1819, died November 1900 1823 1830 1831
—: 842 " Kilbeg Kilbeg Castletown  Castletown
! »- 1046 1homas Kilpatrick Kilpatrick
8 1 L3 1851 Catherine
1 ] William + Rose Clarke =—————3 Jane Monaghan
x . 1826, Moynalty
Too young for Michael + v G = Listed in Griffith’s | m. 4 March 1851.
V Marylearolans Elizabeth Lamb Patrick Valuation for 1855 Died 27 May 1914
1849 Muff, Nobber 1839 l
1850 1862 A'f”e Muff  Nobber 1851 Bridget Early Birth. Married William Smith, had 7 children
1860 Bridget ~ Muff  Nobber < 1854 Mary Married Michael Magee, had 8 children
1875 Elizabeth Nobber Nobber - 1856 Jane Died g February 1897
1 1866 Eugene  Nobber Nobber - 1826 John To USA?
9 1 1864 James Muff  Nobber <& 59
358 Joh bb 1863 Peter
v 1858 John Nobber 1865 James NYPD. Returned home on visits, with Mrs Jimmie
1878 Mary Nobber Nobber 1868 Patrick and John in 1903, Jim only in 1906, 1921 but returned
1889 1884 Catherine Nobber Nobber - to US 1923, finally home 1927.
Key Records *  Equal probability for G5 James

Black and solid lines = from records
- o -
Broken black lines =
possible next generation descent;
Blue and broken Blue lines =
speculation andfilling-in missing links.

Moynalty records date from 1830

Kilbeg from 1817 with a gap 1852-1858
Nobb er from 1764
Kildalky from 1785
Kells from 1792
Drumconrath from 181
Navan from 1782

* Equally probable candidate with 1781
James for our Gg James and also with

a speculative one circa 1799. If this is

our G5 James, where was he between
1805-1818? King's shilling perhaps!

Could be a second James but also married
to an Annel!! Unlikely but possible.
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The McMahons of Trohanny

E.3 G7 McMahons and Later
The main players in generations 7 and 8 were James, Peter, John, Thomas and
their descendants, as shown in Figure E3
GENERATION 1720 Figure E3: The relationship of the three family branches in Generation 10
1
i James + James + James + ** James +
\ Anne Cahil Rose Cooney Anne Catherine Daly
\ Anne Died 22 (Most likely
7 March 1837in Anne Cahil)
! Carlanstown, (Could be second
1 confirming James James but also
1 as a philanderer! married to an
1 Unless there was ‘Anne’ - unlikely)
' divorce
1819
1820 . V
A William Johng Hugh Margaret c? Peter G
1819 1823 1830 1831 1834
1 Kilbeg Kilbeg Castletown Castletown Kilbeg
1 Died November 1900 1 Kilpatrick Kilpatrick
! il fmmmmmmmmmes T G = Listed in
8 1 willi : Griffith’s Valuation
illiam + 1
1 for 1855.
I Rose Clarke ‘ '
' Moynalty ~ Jane Monaghan Y
I * 1826 John + Peter +
A Moynalty Mary Finegan Unknown
\j Patrick m. 4 March 1851 Moynalty
1849 1839 Died 27 May 1914 * |
1850 V
A B 1851 Bridget (m. William Smith, 1856 Patrick jggdsr:
) ) ridge
1 7 children) 1859 Catherine . - 1856
1 1854 Mary  (m.Michael Magee, 1861 Michael
1 7 children) 1864 John
1 b 1856 Jane Joe Sr +
9 1 B 1859 John  (To USA) Cormeen
\ 59 Rose Daly
B 1863 Peter Leitrim
: B 1865 Jamgs (NYPD) 1883 Catherine
1868 Patrick 1885 Peter
' 1887 Bernard
1889 1889 Anne
1890 V I:: 1893 Mary Agnes
Patrick + Peter + 1896 Joseph (Died 1986)
A Margaret Farrelly Mary Lynch
1 m. 3 October 1901 Maio, Moynalty
1 1889 Mary  (Married Frank Byrne)
10 1 1891 Jane
1 1902 William Died 20 May 1903 1893 William
1 1904 Eugene 1895 Edward
1 1906 Jennie 1898 Patrick (Married M. Russell)
v 1910 Jim 1900 Peter  (IRA Peter, no issue, died 1976)
1929 1912 Paddy 1901 Katie  (Married M. Hilliard, 11 children)

*

Grandmother’s notebook
** In Trohanny in 1854, then to Upper Leitrim where Joe Sr
born (21852-1858) and eventually to Rathbawn

*** An early indiscretion perhaps? Died before next Patrick? Or another William?
**** NYPD. Returned home on visits, with Mrs Jimmie and John in 1903, Jim only in
1906, 1921 but returned to US 1923,
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Annex E: G3 and Later

GENERATION

n

12

13

The Descendants of Generation 10, Eugene’s Family, are shown in Figure E4

1850 Figure E4: G1o Eugene’s Family and
A t D dant Joe Sr +
curren escendants Cormeen, Moynalty
1 Rose Daly
1 Leitrim, Moynalty
1 Patrick Peter
1 1868 1863
1883 Catherine
i 1885 Peter
v 1887 Bernard
1889 1889 Anne
a0 . Peters [ s T e
A atrick + Mary Lynch 1896 Joseph ——3 Joseph’s Family
Margaret Farrelly Maio. Movnalt
1 Maio » Moy Yy
1 m. 3 October 1901 1889 Mary
1 1902 William 1891 Jar.1§
1904 Eugene 1893 William » William’s Family
! 904 g- 1895 Edward
f 1906 Jennie 1898 Patrick
\/ 1910 Jim 1900 Peter
1929 1912 Paddy Eugene + 1901 Katie
1930 Florence Doyle
A Dulblin
' | | | | |
1 1949 1945 1943 1941 1937
1 Brendan + Mary + Eugene + Larry + Patrick +
1 Irene Farren Peader Mulligan Anne Gouldsbury Heidi Grabinger Grania Claffey
n
1959
1960 1973 Stephen 31971 Sheelagh 1967 Robert 1967 Peter 31964 Caroline
A B 1976 Sarah 1974 Eugene 1968 Fiona 1970 Katie 1965 Brian
1 - 1981 Elizabeth 1975 Sinead 1972 Colin - 1968 Eoin
1 Ly 1978 Patricia
' stephen+ Eugene + Katie + Brian +
' Cara-louise Julie Lui Ben Craig Louise Cull
b White
Peter +
\/ SS:::ISEZ: Christiane Caroline +
1989 & Von Rheinfurth Stephen Grant
1990 Lo <J I
1996 Maximillian
A B 2000Hannah 2008?
1 2006 Ellie 2006 Michael Patrick
i B 2002 Nova
i 2004 Lara
i 2004 Kate 1989 lain
i - 2007 Delta 1991 Sarah
i 1994 Ciaran
2020
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The McMahons of Trohanny

GENERATION

10

n

12

1890

The Descendants of Generation 10, William’s Family, are shown in Figure E5

Figure E5: Gio William’s Family

and current Descendants

William +
Kathleen
Gallagher
Maio/
Carlanstown

1929
1930
A 1930 Mary Mary +
| R .
1934 Rose Michael Yore
1 B 1937 Paddy —
1 |3 1932 Peter® Rose + Carnacross
1 Brigid Price
\ Barney Yore
! Paddy + Kells
]
. P.Flanigan 3 1955 Michael -
' 1957 William
1959 B 1959 Mairead
1960 6 A . 1960 Eugene
A -»1965 Mssukmp a 2 Paraic
! 1967 ar 1963 Mary — I3 1965 Dominic
! 1969 Hilda =7 | Lam1966 Theresa | Ly  Francis
! 1076 1974 Paula L 1968 Ann
1977 Padraig 1 Bernard
: William + 1975 Michael +
I Claire Gilcreest Assumpta + M. Brennan
i Cormeen Seth Mclnnes
London ] E .
] . ugene
Mark + Hilda + Mary + :‘3"% A Sghankey
' Anne Cassidy Martin O’Brian Tony Roche adralg )
1989 Donore Moate Curlran
1
1990 ' Y Y
1993 David 1994 Darrell B ? Jack 1997 1991
A 1994 Ronan 1995 Shauna = ? Daniel Katie Laura
1 SN
I ] :1998 razel - ? Niamh 1980 Gavin -
1999 Lauren ?
1 2000 Aimee Ellen 1982 Caolan—&
1 Mairead +
1 m. A.Clinton 1997 Eadaoin -
i 1989 Colin 1988 Rose 2001 Cormac -
! 1991 Aoife 1990 Anthony 20060isin &
\/ 1997 Cian 1992 Megann 2003 Leonne &
2020 2001 Shane 2000Mark 2006 Michael <&
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Annex E: G3 and Later

The Descendants of Generation 10, Joseph’s Family, are shown in Figure E6

GENERATION 1890 Figure E6: G1o Joseph’s Family and current Descendants.

1
1
1
1
10 i Joseph Jr +
Mary Reilly
i Rathbawn
1
1
1929
1930
A B 1943 Rosaleen Rathbawn
1 B 1945 Kathleen Rathbawn
1 B 1946 Mary Rathbawn
1 B 1947 Peter Rathbawn
n 1 B 1948 Annette Rathbawn
1 B 1949 Celine Rathbawn
1 B 1951 Margarete Rathbawn
1 1957 Joan Rathbawn
' Peter +
\ Phyllis Fagan
1959 I
1960
A 1974 Dawn Dublin =———— Dawn +
h 1975 Fergal Dublin Tony Smith
i 1976 Karl Dublin
! 1985 Peter  Dublin
1
12 !
1
| Fergal +
1 Orlagh Kiernan
1989
1990 *
2007 Joseph Moynalty
Y
?
13

S = = = = === P

N
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The McMahons of Trohanny

Convent Lake,
Co. I\/\onag|ha

Cranog in
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Griffith’s Valuation

Griffith’s Valuation records 24 male McMahon entries, mainly in the Parish of Moynalty,
not all of whom were thought to be interrelated. There were six McMahons present in
Trohanny Townland circa 1854, namely John, John Jr, Laurence, Margaret, Peter,
William. These were most likely distributed in at least two but possibly three home-
steads. We can exclude Laurence as a blood relation, as he belonged to the Murchan
branch, i.e. the Monaghan/Clare mixture that settled in the area in 1780" (Ref. 11).

The 18 townlands (containing McMahons) shown in Table F1 are plotted on an
Ordnance Survey Map (Figure F1). This is an amazing distribution by any standard,
especially having 11 of the 18 in such a small area of Moynalty Parish (most are with-
in half a days walk of each other). As few of these McMahon families were related to
each other, it is hard to avoid the conclusion that they were intentionally concentrated
in this way, according to surname, by the landlord.

It is possible that the William living in Kells could have been G6 William, who
would have been 86 years old (there is a history of longevity in the family). He would
have handed on Moate Farm to his son Peter long before that and may well have
moved into Kells in his declining years.

It beggars belief that 10 of the 16 leaseholders would finish up in an area approx-
imately 5x2 Km by ‘natural’ means (Figure F1). This contention is supported by:

[1 the skewed family distribution in Table B2;

[J the firm family conviction that most surrounding McMahons were unrelated to us.

45 The original McMahon in this branch arrived from Co. Clare into the Moynalty area c.1780. He seems to have had four
sons, Thomas (Bishop), Philip (Rev.), Patrick and Laurence. Laurence fathered Richard McMahon, whose children were
Laurence (1865), Mary Anne (1867), Thomas (1870), Charles (1872), Matthew (1874), Francesca (1875), Michael (1878) and
Richard (1881). A member of this branch later married a MacMahon from Monaghan, who arrived in North Meath in 1888.
This latter family settled in Kilmainhamwood, where a Eugene McMahon still resides (his sister is Mary Murchan in
Moynalty).
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The McMahons of Trohanny

Figure F1: The Distribution of McMahon holdings from the Griffith’s Index.
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Annex F: Griffith’s Valuation

McMahons

John
John Jr
Laurence
Margaret
Peter
William
Peter
Sally
Patrick
Patrick
John
Ellen
Patrick
Michael
Patrick
Laurence
Laurence
Joseph
James
James
Peter

Peter

No McMahons in Robertstown
etc. nor Barnwalls or Drakes

No McMahons, or Drakes for

that matter!

Peter

William
Thomas

Rose

Patrick

John

John McMohon

Peter

Map No

N

O 0 ~N O 1 »v1 » B M w

In Townland

Trohanny
Trohanny
Trohanny
Trohanny
Trohanny
Trohanny
Rathbane
Rathbane
Ughtyneill
Lr. Leitrim
Lr. Leitrim
Lr. Leitrim
Feagh
Feagh
Cormeen
Quigelagh
Coolnahince
Druminiskin
Moynalty
Carrigagh
Ballintillan

Moate

Drakestown

Back Street
Church Lane
Carrickleck
Carrickleck
Carnacully
Losset

Tirachorka

Parish

Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Moynalty
Kilbeg

Kilbeg

Kilbeg

Kells

Kells
Enniskeen
Enniskeen
Kilmainham
Moybolgue
Moybolgue

Ardmaghbreague  Nober

Comment

The Uncle —brother of G7 James?

Son of G7 James & Rose Cooney?
The teacher?

William’s sister?

William’s half brother (Daly) 21yrs

G Grandfather (mother Cahile) 35yrs
Unrelated Peter

Wife (Maxwell?)

There are two Cormeens in the 